University of Alberta

A role for PI3K in the Cytoskeletal Rearrangements Required for CTL

Degranulation

By

Laura R. Mireau



.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

In Immunology

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall, 2002



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

anadä

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-81445-9

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author:	Laura R. Mireau
Title of Thesis:	A role for PI3K in the Cytoskeletal
	Rearrangements Required for CTL
	Degranulation
Degree:	Master of Science
Year this Degree Granted:	2002

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright of the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Sept 25, 02

Laura Minian Laura R. Mireau

#605-1 Michener Park NW Edmonton, Alberta T6H 4N1

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "A role for PI3K Cytoskeletal Rearrangements required for in the CTL Degranulation" submitted by Laura R. Mireau in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Immunology.

Dr. Hanne L. Ostergaard (Supervisor)

Dr. Larry Guilbert

Dr. Deborah N. Burshtyn

Dr. Andrew R. E. Shaw

Sept 20, 2002

Abstract

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are immune effector cells that function to detect and destroy virally infected and cancerous cells. CTL become activated to kill as a result of signals initiated by T cell receptor (TCR) engagement. TCR signalling induces CTL degranulation in part by initiating cytoskeletal changes, which contribute to T cell/target cell adhesion, sustained signalling, receptor localization and stabilization, and polarization of cytolytic granules. Although these cytoskeleton-dependent events are required for CTL effector function, the pathways that link signalling events to the cytoskeleton are unclear.

The lipid kinase phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) has been implicated in cytoskeletal rearrangements. This study shows that PI3K activity is required for signalling events that mediate CTL degranulation. Moreover, we show a role for PI3K in the phosphorylation of paxillin, adhesion, cell spreading, and in the phosphorylation of PKC θ . Together, the results of this study suggest that PI3K contributes to CTL degranulation by linking membrane proximal signalling to cytoskeletal rearrangement.

Acknowledgements

I'd first and foremost like to acknowledge my supervisor Hanne Ostergaard for believing in me and for giving me the chance to prove myself. Hanne, your guidance and encouragement has inspired in me, a love of immunology and helped me to discover an unexpected passion for research.

To my lab mates, Troy, Lawrence, Bindy, Leslie, Stacey, Barbara, Tara, and especially Kara, thanks for making the lab environment amazing. It has been a gift to work with such wonderful, positive and caring people, people I will always think of as friends.

I'd also like to thank Larry Guilbert for all his words of wisdom and continuous encouragement throughout the last few years. As well I'd like to acknowledge his time spent in mentorship with regard to teaching and the UTS program.

To Debbie Burshtyn, thanks for patience in mentoring a "wanna-be" teacher, and for providing insight and a kind ear to an uncertain graduate student who was trying to find her way.

To the Kane lab, thanks for being great neighbors and caring friends.

To my friend Lori, thanks for being a good friend, for remaining positive through personal trial and for caring about my progress in life and as a masters' student.

To Robyn, thanks for being proud of me, and for treating me like family.

For Peter, who pushed and pushed till I almost broke, but at the same time cared enough to help me keep it together, and inspired me to walk away stronger for it in the end.

For Pete

Table of Contents

Chapter I 1
Overview of CTL Effector Function and Activation1
1.1 General Role in Immune response1
1.1.1 The Immune System1
1.1.2 CTL Characterization and Activation2
1.1.3 CTL Function
1.2 T cell Activation5
1.2.1 T cell Receptor (TCR)5
1.2.2 CD28
1.2.3 LFA-17
1.2.4 CD8
1.2.5 Summary of T cell Activation9
1.3 Cytoskeletal Rearrangement9
1.3.1 The Cytoskeleton and Adhesion 10
1.3.2 Inside-out Signaling11
1.3.3 The Cytoskeleton and Sustained Signaling 12
1.3.4 The Cytoskeleton and Lipid rafts13
1.3.5 Immune synapse formation14
1.3.6 CTL Degranulation and MTOC polarization
1.3.7 Summary of Cytoskeletal involvement in CTL Activation
1.4 T cell Signaling 16

1.4.1 TCR Signaling	
1.4.2 Cytoskeleton Associ	ated Proteins19
1.4.3 PKC	
1.4.4 Paxillin	
1.4.5 PAK	
1.4.6 Signaling Summary.	
1.5 Phosphatidylinositol 3-ki	nase
1.5.1 PI3K Function	
1.5.2 Structure and Regul	ation24
1.5.3 Phenotype of PI3K k	Knock Out25
1.5.4 PI3K Activation: Rec	cruitment to the Membrane27
1.5.5 Downstream Targets	s of PI3K29
1.5.6 Protein Kinases	
1.5.7 Cytoskeletal Interact	tions
1.5.8 Adhesion and Cytos	keletal changes31
1.5.9 Summary	
1.6 Hypothesis to be test	ed 33
Chapter II	
Materials and Methods	
2.1 Cell lines	
2.2 Antibodies	
2.3 Chemical Reagents and	Inhibitors
2.4 Cell Stimulation	

2.5 Degranulation Assay
2.6 SDS-PAGE, Immunoblotting and Immunoprecipitation
2.7 Conjugate Assay40
2.8 MTOC polarization40
2.9 Cell Fractionation
Chapter III 43
PI3K activity is required for Paxillin Phosphorylation and CTL Adhesion 43
3.1 Introduction
3.2 PI3K inhibitors inhibit the phosphorylation of AKT, a protein dependent
on PI3K activity for its phosphorylation44
3.3 PI3K activity is required for CTL degranulation
3.4 PI3K is required for signaling events upstream of the process of
degranulation
3.5 PI3K plays a specific role in the tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane
proximal proteins upon CTL stimulation
3.6 PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of Paxillin upon CTL activation
3.7 PI3K plays a role in CTL spreading on immobilized anti-CD3 coated
plates
3.8 Wortmannin inhibits conjugate formation between CTL and target cells.
3.10 Summary of Results64
Chapter IV65

PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC θ
4.1 Introduction65
4.2 PI3K activity is not required for Vav phosphorylation in CTL
4.3 PI3K activity is required for the formation of a higher molecular weight
form of PKC θ , and for the phosphorylation of ERK
4.4 PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC θ
4.5 TPA stimulates the phosphorylation of PKC θ independently of PI3K
activity74
4.6 PKC θ exists in an unphosphorylated form in the CTL membrane under
basal conditions76
4.7 PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of PKC θ at the membrane 78
4.8 The phosphorylation of PKC θ is dependent on the integrity of the
cytoskeleton81
4.9 Summary of Results81
Chapter V
Discussion
5.1 Summary of Results
5.2 Upstream Mechanisms of PI3K activity in CTL activation and effector
function
5.2.1 Cytoskeleton Associated Proteins Regulated by PI3K
5.3 PI3K Regulates the Phosphorylation of Paxillin
5.3.1 Potential mechanism of PI3K-dependent Paxillin regulation 86

5.3.2 Future directions	5.3.
5.4 PI3K plays a role in CTL Spreading	5.4
5.4.1 Potential Mechanism for the involvement of PI3K in CTL	5.4
spreading90	spro
5.4.2 Future Directions	5.4
5.5 PI3K plays a role in CTL Adhesion to target cells	5.5
5.5.1 Mechanism of PI3K involvement in Adhesion	5.5
5.5.2 Future Directions	5.5
5.6 PI3K plays a role in the Phosphorylation of PKC θ	5.6
5.6.1 Mechanism of Involvement of PI3K in PKC θ Phosphorylation	5.6
and Localization97	and
5.6.2 Future Directions	5.6
5.7 Summary and Model for PI3K involvement in CTL effector function	5.7
100	
Bibliography 103	Bibliogr
Appendix130	Append
A.1 Wortmannin has no adverse effect on the viability of CTL	A.1 V
A.2 LY 294002 inhibits degranulation of CTL as stimulated by target cells	A.2 L
A.3 PKC θ is constitutively at the membrane in unstimulated AB.1 CTL	A.3 F
clones	clone

List of Figures

Signaling cytoskeletal rearrangements through the TCR	17
TCR stimulated actin polymerization	18
Structure of PI3K and illustration of domains	26
PI3K Activation in Response to TCR signaling	28
Wortmannin and LY 294002 treatment inhibit PI3K	46
activity	
PI3K activity is required for optimal CTL degranulation	47
PI3K is required upstream of the process of	49
Degranulation	
PI3K activity is required for Phosphorylation of a specific	51 52
subset of proteins	52
PI3K activity is required for the Phosphorylation of	54
Paxillin	
Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated by immobilized	56
α -CD3, requires PI3K activity	
Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated with Target cells is	57
Dependent on PI3K activity	
PI3K plays a role in CTL spreading on α -CD3	59
PI3K activity is required for the optimal formation of	61
CTL/Target cell conjugates	
	TCR stimulated actin polymerization Structure of PI3K and illustration of domains PI3K Activation in Response to TCR signaling Wortmannin and LY 294002 treatment inhibit PI3K activity PI3K activity is required for optimal CTL degranulation PI3K is required upstream of the process of Degranulation PI3K activity is required for Phosphorylation of a specific subset of proteins PI3K activity is required for the Phosphorylation of Paxillin Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated by immobilized α -CD3, requires PI3K activity Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated with Target cells is Dependent on PI3K activity PI3K plays a role in CTL spreading on α -CD3 PI3K activity is required for the optimal formation of

- Figure 14. PI3K dependent conjugate formation is required for 63 MTOC polarization
- Figure 15. PI3K activity is not required for Vav phosphorylation in 67 CTL, but may effect the mobility of PKC θ
- Figure 16. PI3K activity is required for the formation of a slower 69 migrating species of PKC θ and for the phosphorylation of ERK
- Figure 17. PKC θ is dependent on PI3K activity for phosphorylation 71 but does not co-immunoprecipitate with PI3K, nor with AKT
- Figure 18. PKC θ phosphorylation, stimulated by immobilized α 73 CD3, requires PI3K activity
- Figure 19. PKC θ phosphorylation, stimulated with Target cells is 75 dependent on PI3K activity
- Figure 20. TPA stimulates the phosphorylation of PKC θ via a 77 pathway independent of PI3K
- Figure 21. PKC θ is localized at the membrane regardless of 79 stimulation
- Figure 22.PKC θ localization with Drug Treatment80
- Figure 23. Phosphorylation of PKC θ depends on an intact 82 Cytoskeleton
- Figure 24. Model: PI3K in CTL activation 102

List of Abbreviations

APC	Antigen presenting cell
Arp	Actin related protein
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ВН	Break point cluster region-homology domain
BLT	Benzyloxy carbonyl-L-lysine Thiobenzyl Ester
Btk	Brutons Tyrosine Kinase
CD	Cluster Designation
СМІ	Cell Mediated Immunity
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
Cyto-D	Cytochalasin D
DAG	Diacyl Glycerol
DNTB	Dithio-bis2-nitrobenzoic acid
ECC	Enhanced Chemiluminescence
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
ERK	Extracellular Regulated Kinase

FAK	Focal Adhesion Kinase
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FITC	Fluorescence isothyocyanate
Fyn	Src kinase p59
GSK	Glycogen Synthase Kinase
HRP	Horse Radish Peroxidase
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule
IL	Interleukin
IP	Immunoprecipitate
IP3	Inositol Tris-phosphate
ITAM	Immuno-tyrosine based Activation Motif
КО	Knock out
LAT	Linker for Activation of T cells
Lck	Lymphocyte-specific Cytoplasmic protein Tyrosine
	Kinase
LFA-1	Leukocyte Function Associated Antigen

MAP	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
МНС	Major Histocompatability Complex
MTOC	Microtubule Organizing Center
NFAT	Nuclear Factor for Activated T cells
OD	Optical Density
РАК	p21 Activated Kinase
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PDK-1	PI3K-dependent Kinase-1
РН	Pleckstrin Homology
ЫЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase
PIP	Phosphatidylinositol-phosphate
РКВ (АКТ)	Protein Kinase B
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PLC γ	Phospholipase C gamma
PMA	Phorbol-12 Myristate Acetate
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
RSB	Reducing Sample Buffer

SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel
	Electrophoresis
SH	Src homology
SMAC	Supramolecular Activation Cluster
SLP-76	SH2 domain containing leukocyte protein
TCR	T cell receptor
WASp	Wiscott Aldridge Syndrome protein
ZAP-70	ζ associated protein

Chapter I

Overview of CTL Effector Function and Activation

1.1 General Role in Immune response

Human survival requires that the body have the ability to protect itself against deleterious alterations that result from pathogenic infection or mutation. This protection is conferred in part by the immune system. As a consequence the immune system must be able to distinguish normal self from what is altered or foreign.

1.1.1 The Immune System

The immune system is compartmentalized into two branches: the innate immune response and the adaptive immune response. The two branches work in a highly coordinated fashion, covertly communicating with each other strategies for the control and elimination of pathogens. The innate branch consists of populations of leukocytes that respond *en masse* upon initial pathogenic invasion. Leukocytes contribute both directly and indirectly to pathogen clearance. Directly, infiltrating leukocytes mediate initial destruction of infected tissues via cytolysis. Indirectly, leukocytes that have encountered antigen contribute to pathogen clearance by secreting chemical mediators that provide information to the adaptive immune response on the type of adaptive defense required. Later in infection, the adaptive response translates the signals from the innate response and uses the information to design and implement a highly specific response. Lymphocytes, the cells that

comprise the adaptive immune system, respond only to specific antigens; lymphocytes are specifically selected by interaction with their antigen to become activated and to expand. Only those lymphocytes that see their respective antigen are activated and expanded, thus only those cells that have been altered to express the foreign antigen (for which the selected lymphocytes are specific) will be targeted and destroyed. In this way the adaptive immune system generates a specific immune response for a specific pathogen. As a means of achieving this specificity, the adaptive immune system is sub-divided into two branches; the humoral branch, which is activated and functions to safeguard primarily against extracellular pathogens, and the cell mediated immunity (CMI) branch, which functions in defense primarily against intracellular pathogens. The principal cellular players in the humoral and CMI branches are B and T cells respectively. T cells are considered the centre of the adaptive response in that they can functionally regulate the activity of all other cell types. T cells can be generally subdivided into CD4⁺ T helpers and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL). Where T helpers play a key role in immune regulation, CTL play a key role in the direct destruction of infected and cancerous target cells.

1.1.2 CTL Characterization and Activation

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are critical effector cells in the adaptive immune response that function to directly destroy cells infected with intracellular pathogens, or cells that have been transformed. Generally CTL are characterized as lymphocytes that express a T cell antigen receptor

(TCR) in concert with CD3, CD8, and Thy-1 on their surface. Activation of CTL results when a naïve CD8⁺ T cell is stimulated through interaction of the T cell receptor (TCR) with foreign antigen in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I expressed on a target cell. TCR engagement triggers the expression of cytokine receptors (i.e. interleukin 2 and 6 (IL2 and IL6)) that recognize cytokines derived from T helper cells. Helper cytokines stimulate the CD8⁺ T cells to proliferate and differentiate into effector CTL and memory cells. Only those cells that have "seen" their antigen presented in the context of MHC class I become activated. In this way the adaptive immune response selects and expands immune cells that are specific for, and effective at recognizing, specific antigens.

1.1.3 CTL Function

The predominant function of CTL is to directly destroy altered-self or infected cells (1). CTL are uniquely designed to control intracellular pathogens because in general, they are triggered by intracellular proteinderived peptides, loaded onto class I MHC molecules which are expressed on all cells in the body. Their granularity as well as the expression of FAS ligand on their surface mediate their killing function; CTL seek out non-self, or altered self-cells and destroy them via degranulation, or via FAS ligand mediated killing (2). Both degranulation and FAS ligand expression trigger target apoptosis. In the case of a virally infected target, apoptosis interferes with intracellular viral propagation resulting in attenuation of viral infection. Cancerous cells, if recognized as altered-self cells by CTL through the

expression of altered endogenous peptides in the context of MHC class I, are eliminated before malignancy and metastasis can occur.

Kees *et al.* first demonstrated the importance of CTL in immune defense against intracellular pathogens in 1976 (3). They showed that transfer of specific cytotoxic T cells to mice infected with ectromelia virus results in a reduction in virus titre within target organs (liver and spleen) of the virus. Later Yap *et al.* (4) showed, through adoptive transfer experiments, that CTL protect host mice from death and dramatically reduce virus titres when transferred to influenza-infected mice. With regard to CTL defense against malignancy, in 1977, Coates and Crawford showed not only that human melanoma cells could be transplanted to nude mice, but also that CTL from the tumour donor could inhibit the growth of the tumour graft in the recipient mice (5). This evidence initiated what has since been firmly established; a role for CTL in intracellular pathogen clearance and cancer control.

CTL can also contribute to autoimmune disorders if their activity becomes non-specific or if CTL are generated that express TCR specific for self-peptides. Under these circumstances, CTL are potent destroyers of healthy tissue. The key role of CTL in autoimmunity has been demonstrated in mice; mice with a deficiency in the CTL degranulation pathway have dramatically less severe forms of induced diabetes (6) (7).

1.2 T cell Activation

CTL are highly potent killers, thus "on switches" and checkpoints are required to prevent aberrant T cell activation. In order for a T cell to become activated *in vivo*, antigen specific receptors as well as non-antigen specific receptors on the T cell membrane must engage ligands on a target cell or antigen-presenting cell (APC) in a highly coordinated manner. The requirement for coordination of receptor engagement is a key example of the "built-in" regulatory mechanisms involved in CTL activation. The critical surface molecules on the T cell, important for T cell activation, are the T cell receptor (TCR), the co-stimulatory molecule CD28, integrins such as leukocyte function associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), and CD8. Coordinated engagement of these molecules with their ligands, results in T cell activation.

1.2.1 T cell Receptor (TCR)

The central receptor for stimulation of a T cell is the TCR. The TCR is described as a somatically rearranged, clonal antigen receptor (8). Every individual T cell somatically rearranges a unique TCR thus, the overall repertoire of T cells have vast TCR diversity (9) while individual T cells are highly specific for a limited range of peptide antigens. Any given TCR on a particular CTL is specific for an intracellular antigen-derived peptide presented in the context of MHC class I.

The TCR is a multi-subunit transmembrane glycoprotein composed of α and β chains, the CD3 complex and TCR ζ . The α and β chains directly bind antigenic peptide and self-MHC, and thus dictate specificity of TCR

recognition (10) (11). The invariant CD3 complex, which is composed of nonpolymorphic, transmembrane, heterodimeric proteins CD3 γ/ϵ , CD3 δ/ϵ , and usually one homodimer of TCR ζ/ζ (12) (11), is required to transduce signals in response to TCR (α/β) engagement with MHC/peptide; the α and β chains have no intrinsic signal transduction capabilities.

Although the TCR interacts with MHC/peptide with great specificity, the affinity of the interaction is very low. Even so, TCR/MHC/peptide interaction is absolutely required for T cell activation and effector function. Signaling through the TCR initiates the majority of T cell responses required for degranulation. These include most membrane proximal signaling events that facilitate transcription of proteins such as IL2, as well as cytoskeletal rearrangements such as cell spreading and microtubule organizing center (MTOC) polarization.

1.2.2 CD28

Signals generated by the TCR are amplified by the concurrent signaling of costimulatory molecules. The primary costimulatory interaction involved in naïve T cell activation is the engagement of CD28 with its ligand B7-1 or B7-2 (CD86 and CD80) on an APC. Costimulation by ligand interaction between CD28 and B7 is required for T cell proliferation and differentiation as shown through antibody blocking and cross-linking experiments (13). CD28 contributes to T cell activation by functioning both as an adhesion molecule, and as a signaling molecule (14). As an adhesion molecule, CD28 binding B7 helps stabilize the interaction between the T cell

and the target cell, allowing for low affinity TCR/MHC/peptide interactions to occur. CD28 signaling provides a crucial second signal for TCR regulated cytokine production and proliferation (15) (16) (17). Because CD28 shares many of its biochemical functions with the TCR, CD28 signaling is thought to intensify and prolong signals normally generated by the TCR.

CD28 may also regulate aspects of cytoskeletal rearrangement that occur upon T cell activation. Wulfing and Davis suggest that CD28 costimulation signals the action of myosin motor proteins to reorient molecules attached to the actin cytoskeleton towards the target cell interface. Thus, engagement of CD28 contributes to cytoskeletal rearrangement by promoting the cytoskeletal–dependent recruitment of cell surface proteins (18) and lipid rafts rich in kinases and adaptor proteins (19).

1.2.3 LFA-1

Because the interaction between the TCR/MHC/peptide is very low affinity, adhesion molecules are required to initiate and maintain cell/cell contact. This initial contact or adhesion plays a key role in T cell proliferation (20) (21) and T cell mediated killing (22) by facilitating TCR surveillance of the target cell for antigen. Adhesion is mediated by the engagement of adhesion molecules LFA-1 on the T cell surface with its ligand intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) on the target cell. The importance of the LFA-1/ICAM interaction has been illustrated by experiments showing that T cell activation is inhibited when LFA-1/ICAM interactions are blocked using antibodies to LFA-1 (23) (24) (25).

LFA-1 is member of the β 2 integrin family and as such, is a glycoprotein heterodimer composed of transmembrane α and β subunits noncovalently associated by their extracellular domains with very short cytoplasmic tails (22) (26). LFA-1 is expressed on all leukocytes (22) and functions as an adhesion molecule upon interaction with ICAM-1 (27), ICAM-2 (28) and ICAM-3 (29).

Both low and high avidity forms of LFA-1 exist (30); the avidity of integrins for their ligands depends on the activation state of the cell (31). In T cells, signaling through the TCR or CD28 induces integrin activation and increased adhesion through a process called inside-out signaling (32) (33) (34). Increased adhesion of LFA-1 for ICAM mediates prolonged cell/cell contact, thus stabilizing TCR and CD28 engagement with their respective ligands, resulting in T cell activation.

LFA-1 also contributes to the cytoskeletal rearrangement required for T cell activation in that it co-localizes with and triggers the re-localization of talin at sites of antigen specific cell-cell contact (35) (56), is associated with α -actinin (36), and with vinculin (36) (37).

1.2.4 CD8

Another surface molecule, CD8, plays an important role in CTL activation and proliferation by participating in coreceptor function (12). CD8 interacts with the same MHC as the TCR and therefore is thought to stabilize the TCR/MHC interaction. Experiments where CD8 is sequestered away from the TCR upon T cell/APC interaction result in diminished T cell

responses (38) (39). As well, blocking CD8/MHC interaction inhibits CTL degranulation (40). Interestingly, CD8 can also undergo triggered binding and contribute to adhesion by engaging non-antigenic class I MHC (41) (40) however the mechanism of this enhancement is largely unknown.

1.2.5 Summary of T cell Activation

T cell activation occurs in response to the coordinated engagement of receptors on the T cell surface. The receptor molecules involved in T cell activation include the antigen specific TCR, the co-stimulatory molecule CD28, the adhesion molecule LFA-1, and the coreceptor molecule CD8. Receptor/ligand engagement results in T cell activation and effector function.

1.3 Cytoskeletal Rearrangement

Receptor ligand interactions result in T cell activation and effector function in part by initiating the dynamic reorganization of the cytoskeleton. In general, the cytoskeleton gives the cell shape, asymmetry, specific membrane organization, polarity for movement, and provides a scaffold for signaling components upon T cell activation. Experiments in T cells where the actin cytoskeleton has been disrupted using cytochalasin D (cyto-D) illustrate the importance of an intact and dynamic cytoskeleton for T cell activation; T cell activation is abrogated with cyto-D treatment (42). Other research has shown that sustained calcium flux, required for activation, depends on the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton (43).

The specific contributions of the cytoskeleton to T cell activation are many fold. The actin cytoskeleton 1) provides scaffolds and regulation for integrin-mediated adhesion (44) (45), 2) provides signaling scaffolds and increases the concentration of intracellular molecules in proximity to the TCR (42) (46) (47), 3) recruits or stabilizes glycolipid rich rafts that are concentrated in the vicinity of engaged TCR (19), and 4) plays a role in receptor clustering and immune synapse formation, thus increasing the likelihood of TCR/MHC interactions (48).

Tubulin may also play a role in activation since polarization of the MTOC is required for effector function as it establishes polarity of the golgicomplex and associated secretory organelles, thus directing secretion of cytokines and granules (49) ((50) (51).

1.3.1 The Cytoskeleton and Adhesion

T cell activation results from relatively low affinity interactions between the TCR and MHC/peptide. In order for TCR/MHC/peptide interactions to occur, adhesion molecules must tether the T cell to an APC in a transient fashion allowing the TCR to survey the target for the appropriate antigen. If the right antigen is present, TCR and coreceptor signaling results in T cell activation. Thus, adhesion of the T cell to an APC is critical for initiating T cell activation and effector function.

In resting T cells, LFA-1, the principal T cell adhesion molecule is tethered to the actin cytoskeleton and maintained in a low activity state (44)

(45) (52)). Undefined, non-antigen specific activation signals induce T cell polarization and the release of the inhibitory cytoskeletal interaction so that LFA-1 can diffuse freely in the plane of the membrane (44). New actin polymerization is concentrated in leading protrusions of the cell (53); highly mobile LFA-1, as it binds ICAM on an APC, forms a new adhesion stabilizing interaction with actin (54) in a process thought to involve α -actinin (55), talin and vinculin (56) (57) (58). Talin is thought to help stabilize clusters of LFA-1 (56) (57) as it couples integrins to F actin.

It is thought that adhesive mechanisms such as LFA-1/ICAM-1 engagement are required to overcome the barrier of close cell-cell contact imposed by the negatively charged glycocalyx of the T cell and APC (14). Thus multiple low affinity, adhesion interactions allow cells to be brought close enough together for the TCR to engage the MHC/peptide (14), which interact when the cells are only ~ 15 nm away from each other, as opposed to the 50-100 nm separation imposed by molecules such as mucin CD43. (59) (10) (60)

1.3.2 Inside-out Signaling

Signaling through the CD3 complex results in increased affinity of LFA-1 for ICAM-1, which tightens and stabilizes the interaction between the T lymphocyte and the APC, thus facilitating activation. This response has been termed inside-out signaling as it was first described for LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions (32). Increased avidity between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 is required for T cell activation and for effector function. Recent work in defining the

signalling pathways that comprise inside out signalling has identified a cytoplasmic regulatory factor in integrin activation called cytohesin-1. Cytohesin-1 is a 47-KDa, intracellular protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of LFA-1 and has been shown to enhance LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 upon association (26). Although cytoshesin-1 likely plays a key role in inside-out signalling, the upstream events that facilitate cytohesin-1/LFA-1 interaction upon TCR signalling are poorly understood. Moreover initial adhesion and inside-out signalling are absolutely required for T cell activation and effector function; however the signaling processes that trigger these cytoskeleton dependent processed have yet to be fully elucidated.

1.3.3 The Cytoskeleton and Sustained Signaling

In order for cytoplasmic proteins to participate in signaling cascades, they must be recruited to the membrane and held in place to gain access to upstream kinases as well as downstream targets. The cytoskeleton plays a major role in this recruitment and stabilization. Many important signaling receptors (TCR ζ chains) as well as cytoplasmic proteins bind the cytoskeleton upon TCR signaling, resulting in protein clustering and phosphorylation. Understandably, the cytoskeleton must be intact for the sustained phosphorylation required for T cell activation to occur (61) (42); tyrosine phosphorylation is transient in cells in which the cytoskeleton has been disrupted using cytochalasin D (Chen and Ostergaard, H., manuscript in preparation). As well, sustained tyrosine phosphorylation is correlated with

cytoskeletal rearrangement; T cells stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 undergo dramatic morphological changes concurrently with sustained tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane proximal proteins, whereas T cells, stimulated with cross-linked anti-CD3 do not spread, nor undergo sustained phosphorylation of membrane proximal proteins (61). Thus it is clear that sustained signaling is dependent on an intact and dynamic cytoskeleton, however, the nature of this dependence has yet to be clarified.

1.3.4 The Cytoskeleton and Lipid rafts

Recent research has provided evidence for the existence of specialized membrane micro-domains enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids (62) (63). These molecules spontaneously form liquid-ordered membrane regions, which are insoluble in non-ionic detergents, and have been coined "lipid rafts" (63) (64). Important cytoplasmic signalling molecules are targeted to rafts by acylation with saturated fatty acyl moieties (palmitoyl, myristoyl), which link proteins to the cytoplasmic lipid leaflet or microdomain (65).

Extensive cross-linking of the TCR with antibodies promotes rapid activation of Src kinases and subsequent accumulation of newly tyrosinephosphorylated substrates in rafts (66) (67) (68), including CD3 ζ molecules (69) (70) (71) ζ associated protein (ZAP-70), phospholipase C gamma (PLC γ 1), phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), Vav, (69) and linker for activated T cells (LAT) (72) (73) (74) (66). Thus, lipid rafts are proposed to play an essential role in T cell signal transduction by functioning as signalling

scaffolds and contributing to sustained signalling (70)(19)(74)(75)(76). The importance of rafts in T cell activation is evidenced by experiments showing that disruption of lipid rafts attenuates T cell activation (77). Upon T cell activation, the actin scaffold recruits and stabilizes lipid rafts thus facilitating the key role of lipid rafts in cell signalling and T cell activation (70) (19) (78).

1.3.5 Immune synapse formation

When agonist MHC-peptide complexes on an APC contact the TCR, the T cell actin cytoskeleton coordinates distinct relocalization of adhesion molecules, antigen receptors, and cytosolic proteins. Actin filaments play a key role in regulating molecular movements on the cell surface (18) (79) resulting in the formation of the immunological synapse; molecules organized into distinct supramolecular activation clusters (SMACs) (79) (58). During the process of SMAC formation, molecules at the contact site between the T cell and the APC resemble that of a bulls-eye. After approximately 5 minutes of engagement between a CTL and target cell, TCR/MHC/peptide complexes together with cytosolic Protein Kinase C θ (PKC θ) have migrated to the centre of the SMAC (c-SMAC) while adhesion molecules (LFA-1 and ICAM) have migrated to the periphery (p-SMAC) (80). The contribution of the immune synapse to T cell activation is unclear, however, synapse formation may facilitate 1) localization of receptors to increase adhesion, 2) presentation of a polarized surface for biochemistry, and 3) clear segregation of specific molecules to particular zones (i.e. CD45), among other possibilities. In CTL, the immune synapse likely functions to direct CTL

degranulation (80). Apart from function, it is clear that the immune synapse forms upon T cell activation, however, the signalling events that trigger cytoskeletal rearrangement and the mechanism of cytoskeletal rearrangement remain to be elucidated.

1.3.6 CTL Degranulation and MTOC polarization

One of the dominant mechanisms of contact-dependent lymphocytemediated cytotoxicity is granule exocytosis or degranulation (81). Degranulation requires polarization of the MTOC as it establishes polarity of the Golgi complex and associated secretory organelles, thus directing secretion of cytokines and granules (82) (49) (50) (51). Upon encounter with a target, a killer cell reorients its granules to the region of receptor activation, along with the MTOC, and releases the granule components into the region of contact between the two cells. The directed reorientation of granules grants specificity to the perforin mediated pathway (50). Although MTOC polarization is known to be downstream of TCR signaling, and required for effector function (83) (84), the signaling cascade that mediates polarization is not fully understood.

1.3.7 Summary of Cytoskeletal involvement in CTL Activation

The cytoskeleton is required for many process involved in T cell activation, including adhesion of a CTL to a target cell, recruitment of signaling molecules and facilitation of sustained signals through direct interaction with actin, or via organization of lipid rafts. As well the

cytoskeleton coordinates the formation of the immunological synapse, and orchestrates MTOC polarization thus facilitating degranulation.

1.4 T cell Signaling

The engagement of receptors on the surface of a T cell results in the initiation of a number of biochemical pathways. These pathways or cascades cooperate leading to various cellular responses including cytoskeletal rearrangement.

1.4.1 TCR Signaling

TCR engagement with MHC/peptide triggers a myriad of signalling cascades (Figures 1 and 2). Signalling starts with the CD3; each chain of the CD3 complex including the TCR ζ chains, contains at least one immunoreceptor-tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) in the cytoplasmic region. ITAMs consist of the amino acid sequence YXXLX₍₆₋₈₎YXXL and are the key components for membrane proximal signal transduction (12) (11). Src-family kinases such as lymphocyte-specific cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinase (Lck) or src kinase p59 (Fyn) initiate signalling by phosphorylating the ITAMs on the TCR ζ chain (85) (86). Phosphorylation of ζ leads to recruitment of multiple signalling proteins, including ZAP-70 (85) (86), via tandem src-homology 2 (SH2) domains.

ZAP-70 binding the phosphorylated ζ chain initiates its phosphorylation and activation (87). ZAP-70 activation is essential for downstream signalling events that result in cytokine production (88) as well as MTOC polarization



Cytoskeletal rearrangements

Figure 1. Signaling cytoskeletal rearrangements through the TCR. TCR engagement triggers the activation of LCK which phosphorylates the ζ chains of the TCR. Phosphorylation of the ζ chains facilitates the recruitment and activation of ZAP 70, which correspondingly phosphorylates LAT. LAT acts as a docking site for many of the molecules involved in actin polymerization and cytoskeletal rearrangement.



Figure 2. TCR stimulated actin polymerization.
(84). One of ZAP-70s activities is to phosphorylate LAT and SH2 domain containing leukocyte protein (SLP-76) (89) (90) (91) (92), which in turn, serve as docking sites for downstream signalling proteins. Cytoplasmic proteins that bind LAT and SLP-76 gain access to upstream kinases and downstream proteins.

SLP-76 provides a docking site for Tec kinase, which phosphorylates the LAT-associated protein PLC γ . PLC γ signals the production of diacyl glycerol (DAG) and inositol tris-phosphate (IP3), resulting in calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Calcium contributes to many cellular processes including cytoskeletal rearrangement, vesicular transport, and activation of calcium dependent enzymes. Calcineurin, one such calcium dependent enzyme, plays a role in nuclear factor for activated T cells (NFAT) activation and subsequent nuclear translocation where it contributes to the transcription of cytokines such as IL2. PLC γ activation and subsequent DAG formation also leads to the activation of classical and novel PKCs, which play multiple roles in various aspects of activation.

1.4.2 Cytoskeleton Associated Proteins

SLP-76 also serves as a docking molecule for the adaptor protein Nck and for the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav-1; substantial evidence suggests that these proteins play important roles in cytoskeletal rearrangement. In T cells, mutations in SLP-76, Vav-1 or Nck result in impaired TCR-stimulated actin polymerization (93) (94) (95). A major function

of Nck in cytoskeletal rearrangement is to facilitate the activation of Wiscott Aldridge Syndrome protein (WASp) (93).

Evidence suggests that WASp activity is linked with Vav-1; defects in Vav-1 or WASp impair actin cap formation and receptor clustering (94) (47) (96). Moreover, in experiments where receptor clustering is contrived using antibody cross linking, T cells isolated from mice deficient in Vav-1 or WASp, show defects in activation and actin polymerization (46) (47) (96). Additionally, inhibiting T cell actin polymerization with cytochalasin D mimics the results of defects in Vav and WASp (47) (95).

The link between Vav-1 and WASp is likely a consequence of the guanine nucleotide exchange function of Vav-1; Vav-1 links TCR stimulation to activation of the Rho-family G-proteins Rac1, Cdc42, and RhoA, all of which have been implicated in cytoskeletal rearrangement (97). Active Cdc42 interacts with WASp and induces an open/active conformation (closed conformation WASp is inert). Open conformation WASp associates with actin related protein 2/3 (Arp2/3), a vital actin regulator that exists in complex with actin related protein 2 and 3 plus 5 other polypeptides (98). The association of WASp with Arp2/3 facilitates Arp2/3 association with actin and corresponding actin polymerization (99).

It is clear that Vav, and WASp-regulated cytoskeletal reorganization and receptor clustering are required for T cell maturation and the induction of physiological T cell responses (43).

1.4.3 PKC

Although Vav-1 and WASp are important for T cell cytoskeletal rearrangement, experiments where cells, deficient in these proteins, are stimulated with PMA show that activation of PKC can bypass the need for both molecules (96) (94) (47). The novel isoform PKC θ is highly expressed in T cells, and cooperates with calcineurin to induce transcription of IL2 (100). Experiments using peripheral T cells from PKC θ knock out mice have shown that PKC θ is important for AP-1 and NF_KB activity in peripheral T cells (101). In non-lymphoid mammalian cell systems (i.e. neurons and human erythroleukemia cells), PKC isoforms have been implicated as adaptor proteins involved in linking actin polymerization to specific signaling pathways (102) (103). Considering the evidence that PKC can bypass the need for important cytoskeletal proteins in T cells, and considering that PKC θ colocalizes with the TCR in the immune synapse (104) (58), the candidacy of PKC θ as a critical adaptor between cytoskeletal rearrangement and downstream signaling in T cells is strong. Further supporting evidence suggests that PKC θ is downstream of and dependent on cytoskeletal rearrangement; recruitment of PKC θ to the center of the immune synapse requires Vav-dependent actin polymerization (105). Taken together, this evidence suggests that PKC θ may serve as a link between receptor clustering and SMAC formation, and downstream signaling events.

1.4.4 Paxillin

Paxillin is another cytoskeleton-associated protein, ubiquitously expressed in all cells including T cells, that plays an important role in focal adhesions by serving as an adaptor molecule between structural proteins such as talin, α -actin and vinculin (which anchor the actin cytoskeleton to the cell membrane) and regulatory proteins such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK) (which catalyzes the phosphorylation of other cytoskeleton associated proteins) (106). Paxillin is phosphorylated upon CTL activation (107) (108); paxillin phosphorylation is thought to be important for cell spreading on extracellular matrix (ECM) (109), and for adhesion dependent functions in leukocytes (110). As well, phosphorylation of paxillin facilitates its association with Lck in T cells (107). Taken together, this evidence suggests that the phosphorylation of paxillin is important for cytoskeletal rearrangement as well as for membrane proximal signalling. Moreover, given its dual implications, paxillin may play a crucial role in CTL effector function by bridging cytoskeletal rearrangements and signalling events.

1.4.5 PAK

p21-activated kinase (PAK) is another focal adhesion protein kinase implicated in molecular clustering of the TCR, and actin stabilization. As well, PAK plays a role in mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase-signalling cascade (111). PAK has traditionally been seen as a downstream effector of Rac1 and Cdc42 and as such, considered dependent on Nck and SLP-76 for activation and relocation. However, PAK has recently been described as a

member of a complex of proteins including pak-interactive exchange factor (Pix β), a recently defined Rac-1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor, Paxillin and paxillin kinase linker (p95PKL). It has been suggested that this newly defined interaction of proteins facilitates the activation of and relocalization of PAK (112). Taken together the evidence suggests that PAK and paxillin interact and as part of a complex, play an important role in cytoskeletal rearrangement and signalling.

1.4.6 Signaling Summary

In summary, receptor engagement on the cell surface initiates signaling events that control the dynamic reorganization of the cytoskeleton, a process that is required for T cell activation and effector function. TCR signaling results in the phosphorylation of the TCR ζ chains resulting in subsequent recruitment and activation of ZAP-70. In turn ZAP-70 phosphorylates LAT and SLP-76, which serve as docking molecules for many downstream proteins including proteins involved in cytokine transcription (i.e. PLC γ and PKC), and cytoskeletal rearrangements (i.e. Nck, Vav-1, WASp, Multiple studies have been done to examine how paxillin, PAK). cytoskeleton-associated proteins interact with actin and induce polymerization; however, many questions remain unanswered regarding how membrane proximal signaling events connect with and signal the recruitment and activation of cytoskeleton-associated proteins, facilitating cytoskeletal rearrangements.

1.5 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) has been implicated in the initiation of cytoskeletal changes in a number of systems. A focus of this thesis is to determine if PI3K plays a role in cytoskeletal rearrangement required for CTL activation. The discussion of PI3K will be limited to the more relevant aspects including the role of PI3K in sustained signaling, cell spreading, adhesion, immune synapse formation, and MTOC polarization.

1.5.1 PI3K Function

Active PI3K functions as both a serine/threonine kinase and as a lipid kinase. The protein serine/threonine catalytic activity of PI3K varies between isoforms of the p110 subunit (113) but is not well described. In terms of lipid kinase activity, PI3K isoforms share specificity. The lipid kinase activity of PI3K is to catalyze the addition of a phosphate group to position 3 of the inositol ring of its preferred substrate phosphatidylinnositol-4, 5 bis-phosphate (PIP2), resulting in the generation of phosphatidylinnositol-3,4,5- tris phosphate (PIP3) (114) (115). Upon stimulation through the TCR (116), CD28, or through chemokines (117) (118) (119), PI3K is recruited to the membrane where it exerts its lipid kinase activity, resulting in an increase in the membrane content of PIP3 (illustrated in figure 4).

1.5.2 Structure and Regulation.

PI3K exists in many isoforms however; the relevant isoforms to T cell activation are the class I PI3K. Class I PI3Ks are heterodimeric proteins consisting of a p110 α , β , δ or γ catalytic subunit and a p85 α , p85 β , or p55 γ

adapter or linker subunit (120) (121). The p85 subunit is composed of a breakpoint cluster region-homology domain (BH), two SH2 domains, a linker site for the p110-subunit, two proline rich regions, and a src-homology 3 (SH3) domain as illustrated in figure 3 (115) (122) (123). The proline sequences can bind the SH3 domains of Src kinases and other PI3K complexes (124) (125). The BH domain (not shown) binds to Rho-family members Rac1 and Cdc42 while the inter-SH2 domain binds the N-terminal region of p110 (126). The p85 SH2 domain binds phosphorylated YMXM motifs and is thought to be the means by which PI3K is localized to the membrane upon T cell activation.

PI3K activity is regulated by its localization; experimental targeting of the p110 catalytic subunit to the membrane is sufficient to allow for constitutive PI3K activity (127). The adapter subunit does not regulate catalytic activity *per se*, but is important for targeting the catalytic subunit to the membrane where it exerts its enzymatic activity.

1.5.3 Phenotype of PI3K Knock Out

Gene targeting experiments resulting in deletion of p85 α result in reduced B cell development but seem to have little effect on T cells with regard to development or activation; *in vitro* responses to antigen-receptors and costimulation are comparable to wild type (128) (129). However, p85 α knockout (KO) mice retain expression of p85 β , which is abundantly expressed in T cells as a complex with p110. Thus p85 β likely compensates for the



p110 Catalytic domain

Receptor Protein Tyrosine Kinase or Non-Receptor Protein Tyrosine Kinase

Figure 3. Structure of Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and illustration of domains

absence of p85 α in T cells. KO mice in p110 α have also been made but are embryonic lethal after 10 days gestation (130). Other gene targeting experiments suggest that PI3K_Y is important for thymocyte survival and activation of mature T cells (131). More recently, mice expressing mutant p110 δ , generated by Okkenhaug *et al.* were found to have deficiencies in antigen receptor signaling in both T and B cells (132). As well immune responses in these mutant mice are attenuated *in vivo*. These studies clearly illustrate that PI3K is important for T cell responses to various stimuli leading to numerous biologically significant outcomes.

1.5.4 PI3K Activation: Recruitment to the Membrane

The first models of PI3K activation in T cells were based on previously established models in non-haematopoietic cells. In this context, PI3K is thought to be recruited to the membrane in response to CD28 signalling; CD28 interaction with B7-1/2 results in the phosphorylation of the YMNM cytoplasmic motif of CD28 allowing association of the SH2 domains of the p85 adaptor subunit (117). Another model for signalling PI3K recruitment is through TCR signalling (133). This model involves association of PI3K with an ill-defined phosphorylated adaptor molecule, current contenders are LAT and TRIM as illustrated in figure 4 (73) (134). Both models of PI3K relocalization rely on similar rules, the SH2 domain of p85 likely interacts with a newly phosphorylated membrane-associated molecule in response to receptor signalling.



Figure 4. PI3K Activation in Response to TCR signaling.

TCR engagement with MHC class I and agonist peptide induces a signaling cascade whereby PI3-Kinase is recruited to the membrane through interaction with an adaptor molecules. At the membrane, PI3K converts PIP2 to PIP3. PIP3 acts as a docking site for proteins containing pleckstrin homology domains such as AKT.

Ongoing research addresses the role of PI3K in CD28, and TCRmediated signaling. Although studies addressing TCR signaling show conclusively that PI3K is activated and functions in multiple signaling cascades (see below), studies with CD28 have conflicting results and are highly controversial, thus no consensus has been reached as to whether or not PI3K is activated in response to CD28 signaling.

1.5.5 Downstream Targets of PI3K

One product of PI3K, PIP3, localizes to lipid rafts (135) and can serve as a docking molecule for proteins containing pleckstrin homology (PH) domains (115). This interaction facilitates the relocalization of PH domain containing proteins to the membrane, where they can become activated and/or have access to their downstream targets (see figure 4). Binding PIP3 in the membrane may also induce conformational changes that allow allosteric modifications of activity (136).

1.5.6 Protein Kinases

PI3K activity is required for the localization and activation of many protein kinases. One family of major importance includes the Tec family kinases. These tyrosine kinases are important for activation of PLC γ , discussed previously. The critical nature of the PH domain interaction between Tec family kinases and PIP3 is illustrated by mutations in the PH domain of Brutons tyrosine kinase (Btk: a Tec kinase family member), which results in X-linked agammaglobulinaemia in humans and a similar immunodeficiency in mice (137).

PIP3 binding other proteins such as the serine/threonine kinases phosphatidylinositol dependent kinase-1 (PDK-1) and protein kinase B (PKB or AKT) through PH domains allows for their recruitment to the membrane and subsequent phosphorylation and activation (115) (121).

1.5.7 Cytoskeletal Interactions

PI3K has been implicated in the activity of Rac-1, Rho and Cdc42, which contribute to the dynamic organization of the actin cytoskeleton and the assembly of associated integrin structures (127) (138) (139). The Rac-1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), Vav-1 contains a PH domain, and has been shown to associate with PIP3, an interaction that promotes tyrosine kinase mediated activation of this enzyme (140). PIP3 generated by PI3K, also contributes to the activation of WASp as a result of PIP3 interaction with the PH domain of WASp (141).

PI3K has been implicated in the relocalization of other cytoskeleton associated protein complexes. Pix β , a Rac-1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor first identified in 1998, contains a PH domain (142) (143). Moreover, Yoshii *et al* have found evidence to suggest that the activation of Pix β in rat brain extracts and HeLa cells is dependent on PI3K (144). It is plausible that the PH domain of Pix plays a role in localization of the PAK/Paxillin/p95PKL/Pix complex to the membrane upon T cell activation, however that this complex actually forms in T cells is currently an object of debate; there is no association of the complex with paxillin in Jurkat T cells (112). As well, if the complex forms in T cells, it remains to be elucidated if

localization is PI3K dependent, and if so, what the downstream effects are on the molecules involved in the complex.

1.5.8 Adhesion and Cytoskeletal changes

PI3K has been implicated in the cell spreading of numerous cell types. Lowell and colleagues have shown that blocking PI3K activity inhibits macrophage spreading on fibronectin (145). Similarly, treatment of platelets with PI3K inhibitors results in inhibition of normal actin cytoskeletal rearrangements (146). PI3K clearly plays a role in cell spreading in other leukocytes, however, a clear role for PI3K in T cells remains to be elucidated.

CTL conjugation is mediated by LFA-1, and to a lesser extent, by CD8. In T lymphocytes, signalling through a variety of receptors including the T cell receptor and CD28 results in the induction of integrin activation (147), (148), (149) and, increases the affinity of CD8 for class I MHC (41). At the same time, signalling through these receptors results in the recruitment and activation of PI3K at the membrane. It has thus been postulated that PI3K participates in signalling events that mediate inside out signalling, resulting in integrin activation and CD8 affinity enhancement (150) (151).

A number of studies support a role for PI3K in adhesion. King *et al*, have shown that plating fibroblasts on fibronectin-coated surfaces causes the clustering of surface integrins, leading to enhanced PI3K activation (152) suggesting that adhesion initiates PI3K signalling. More recently, studies on cytohesin-1, the cytoplasmic regulator of β 2 integrin adhesion to ICAM-1, have shown that cytohesin-1 recruitment to the cytoplasmic domain of LFA-1

is PI3K dependent (151). Cytohesin-1 contains a PH domain that specifically interacts with PIP3 in the membrane facilitating not only compartmentalization for cytohesin-1, but also contributing to the specificity of the GEF activity of cytohesin-1 (151), (153), (154). These data suggest that PI3K is an upstream regulator of cytohesin-1 and thus, may contribute to inside out signalling and cell/cell adhesion. Also, Hydek *et al* have shown that cross-linking either α -4 integrins or the CD3 on Jurkat cells induces adhesion to ICAM-1 in a PI3K dependent manner (155) however; their study does not support a specific mechanism for PI3K involvement.

Mescher and colleagues add to the evidence supporting a role for PI3K in adhesion, however, their evidence suggests that PI3K plays a role in the signalling events that initiate with TCR stimulation and result in the up-regulation of CD8 dependent adhesion (156). As well, PI3K has been implicated in the inside out signalling of β 1 integrins (157). Taken together, these results strongly suggest that PI3K is a ubiquitous regulator of triggered binding and adhesion required for various receptor systems.

1.5.9 Summary

PI3K is a heterodimeric protein that functions to convert PIP2 to PIP3 in the membrane. PIP3 functions as a docking molecule for cytoplasmic proteins that contain PH domains and has been implicated in cytoskeletal rearrangements, T cell activation and degranulation. The exact role of PI3K in T cell activation and cytoskeletal rearrangement remains to be elucidated.

1.6 Hypothesis to be tested

Given that PI3K has been implicated in specific signalling cascades including TEC kinase signalling, and given the implication of PI3K activity in cytoskeletal rearrangements in other cell types, we hypothesize that PI3K plays a role in membrane proximal signalling events that contribute to cytoskeletal reorganization.

Chapter II

Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell lines

The CTL clone AB.1 (murine H2^d anti-H2^b) which have been described previously (158), were grown in HEPES-buffered RPMI supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum, Sodium Pyruvate, non-essential amino acids, L-glutamine, penicillin-streptomycin, and β -2 mercaptoethanol. Cells were stimulated weekly with irradiated C57BL/6J spleen cells in media supplemented with IL2 and experiments were performed 4 to 6 days after stimulation.

The L1210 lymphoma cell line with chimeric class I MHC was a generous gift from Dr. Kevin Kane (University of Alberta). Briefly, L1210 cells were transfected with class I containing the $\alpha 1/\alpha 2$ domains from K^b and the $\alpha 3$ domain from D^d (M, Durairaj and K. Kane, manuscript in preparation). L1210 cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 8% heat inactivated defined calf serum (DCS).

2.2 Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies 145-2C11 (α -CD3) and M17/5.2 (α -LFA-1) were obtained through American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA). The monoclonal antibodies for paxillin and p95 PKL were purchased from Transduction Laboratories (Lexington, KY) and Vav, from Upstate

Biotechnology (Lake Placid, NY). CD45 RB monoclonal antibodies MB4B4 and MB23G2 were used as culture supernatants from hybridomas purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). PY72 (α -phospho-tyrosine) was obtained from Dr. B. Sefton (Salk Institute, La Jolla CA). Hybridomas were grown in Protein Free Hybridoma Medium-II (Gibco- BRL, Burlington, ON). The monoclonal antibodies were purified by ammonium sulfate precipitation and, when necessary, further purified by protein A or protein G chromatography. Fibronectin used for costimulation (10 µg/ml) was purchased from Upstate Biotechnology, Inc., (Lake placid NY), and anti-CD28, also used for costimulation (10 µg/ml) from BD Pharmingen. Polyclonal antibodies specific for AKT and for phospho-AKT (Ser 473) were obtained from Cell Signalling Technology (Beverly, MA). The p110 antibody (α -PI3K) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, (Hornby, Ontario). PKC θ antiserum was provided by Dr. C. Arendt (Skirball Institute, NY). Goat α -mouse PKC theta antibody C-18 and α -goat^{HRP} antibody were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Hamster α -mouse phospho-p44/42 ERK (Thr202/Tyr204) antibody 9101 was purchased from New England Biolabs (Beverly, MA). Rabbit α -hamster^{HRP} and α -mouse^{HRP} were purchased from Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA), and protein A^{HRP} from Pierce (Brockville, Ontario).

2.3 Chemical Reagents and Inhibitors

Wortmannin, the fungal metabolite used to irreversibly inhibit PI3K activity was purchased from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA), and used at concentrations of 0.1 to 100 nM. LY 294002 was also purchased from Calbiochem and used at concentrations of 0.01 μ M to 50 μ M. CTL were pretreated with LY 294002 and wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C prior to stimulation. Depending on the experiment, wortmannin was either left in culture, or washed out. Ionomycin (used at 2 μ M) was purchased from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA) and TPA (PMA) (used at 150ng/ml) was purchased from Sigma Chemicals (Mississauga, Ontario). Cell viability was checked by trypan blue exclusion. Neither of the drugs used had a significant impact on cell viability over the duration of the assays.

Cytochalasin E, used at 10 μ M to disrupt actin filaments after 15 minutes of stimulation, was purchased from Sigma Chemicals (San Diego, CA). Alkaline Phosphatase, purchased from Promega (Madison, WI) was used to cleave phosphate residues from immunoprecipitated protein. After washing, immunoprecipitated protein was resuspended in mQ H₂O 100 μ I + 10 μ I buffer + 20 μ I Alkaline phosphatase.

2.4 Cell Stimulation

AB.1 cells were stimulated by one of three methods. For immobilized anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody stimulation, ninety-six well flat bottom Falcon 3912 microtitre plates (Becton Dickinson, Oxnard, CA) or 60 x 15 mm, non-

treated polystyrene dishes (Fischer Brand Extra Deep Dishes/Fischer; Nepean, Ontario) were coated with 10 µg/ml 145-2C11 anti-CD3 overnight at 4°C. Wells were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS), blocked with 2% bovine serum albumen (BSA) in PBS for 30-60 minutes at 37°C, then washed three times with PBS before use. For phorbol ester plus calcium ionophore stimulation, 150 ng/ml of phorbol-12-myristate acetate (PMA or TPA) was added together with 2µM ionomycin to AB.1 CTL in D-PBS, and cells were immediately aliquoted to BSA-blocked plates or dishes as described above. Some experiments required PMA alone, for those experiments PMA was added to AB.1 at 100ng/ml. For target cell stimulation, cells in D-PBS were cocultured at a 1:2 or a 2:3 effector to target ratio at 4°C followed by a cold spin (4°C for 3 minutes at 700-800 RPM). The cocultures were then incubated at 37°C to initiate stimulation.

2.5 Degranulation Assay

Degranulation, as measured by the release of serine esterase, was assayed as previously described (159). AB.1 cells were washed 3X by centrifugation in PBS and resuspended in 2% newborn calf serum in RPMI. AB.1 were then stimulated by addition at 1.5 x 10⁵ cells/well directly to wells of 96 well plates previously coated with 145-2C11 (anti-CD3 antibody), or mixed at a 2:3 with target cells in a total volume of 150 μ l, or stimulated with 150 ng/ml TPA and 2 μ M lonomycin. Plates were then incubated at 37°C for 4.5 hours after which 25 μ l supernatant was assayed for Benzyloxy carbonyl-

L-lysine Thiobenzyl (BLT)-esterase activity (159) and read in a kinetic micro plate reader (Molecular Devices) at 405 nm, after approximately 20 minutes. All conditions were performed in triplicate and the standard deviation calculated. All experiments were done at least three times with similar results.

2.6 SDS-PAGE, Immunoblotting and Immunoprecipitation

For assays involving CTL stimulated with anti-CD3 antibody, 1.5 x10⁵ CTL in 40 μ l D-PBS containing phenol red (Gibco-BRL, Burlingtom, ON) were directly added to antibody-coated wells. After incubation at 37°C for the indicated times, the cells were lysed by addition of 40 μ l 2X Laemmli reducing sample buffer (RSB) and the lysates separated on 7.5 or 8.5% sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel elecrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gels (for MAP kinase mobility shift assays, a 15% low-Bis (175:1 acrylamide:Bis) gel was used. The activated forms of p44Erk1 and p42Erk2 experience reduced mobility under these conditions). Proteins were transferred to immobilon P (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, MA) and immuno-blotted using various primary antibodies. Secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase (α -mouse^{HRP}, α -goat^{HRP} or protein-A^{HRP}) were used to visualize the proteins by an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECC) system (NEN Life Science Products, Boston, MA).

For assays involving CTL stimulated with target cells, CTL and target cells were washed as previously stated and resuspended in D-PBS

containing phenol red at concentrations of 2.5×10^6 and 5×10^6 cells/ml respectively. Cells were cocultured on ice and centrifuged to optimize interaction for 4 minutes at 700 RPM. Conjugate pellets were then incubated at 37°C for various times, after which the supernatant was aspirated and replaced with lysis buffer (1.0% NP40, 20 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 5mM ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA), and 1% vanadate), the cells were resuspended in 40µl and kept on ice. The nuclei were removed by centrifugation at 4°C for 2-3 minutes at 200 RPM. Post nuclear lysates were then combined with 40 µl 2X Laemmli reducing sample buffer, boiled and the proteins separated by SDS page. The blotting procedure is as above.

Paxillin, Vav, and PKC θ were immunoprecipitated (IPed) by adding 10⁷ CTL to 145-2C11-coated 5 cm dishes. After incubation at 37°C for 20 minutes the cells were lysed in 1.0% NP40, 20 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 5mM EDTA, and 1% vanadate and gently agitated for 20 minutes at 4°C. 40 µl of pre-nuclear supernatant was reserved and used as lysate samples. The nuclei were removed by centrifugation at 16,000x g for 5 minutes. After clarification of the lysates, primary antibody specific for paxillin, Vav, or PKC θ was added to each sample, and the lysates incubated on ice for 15 minutes. Protein A sepharose beads were then added and the samples incubated at 4°C for 2 hours on a rotator. The beads were then washed 3X by centrifugation in 1% NP40 in PBS and then two additional times in PBS. Proteins were eluted from the beads using 1X Laemmli

reducing sample buffer and the denatured protein separated on 8.5% gels and blotted as above.

2.7 Conjugate Assay

CTL and target cells were washed with PBS and stained with green PKH67 and red PKH26 lipophilic dyes respectively (Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO). The cells were then washed 3X in 5% DCS PBS, and incubated at 37°C for a 1-2 hour rest period to prevent dye transfer. During the rest period (where indicated), CTL were treated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes followed by 1 wash in 5% DCS in PBS. Cells were resuspended at 1×10^{6} cells/ml (effectors) and 2×10^{6} cells/ml (targets) in 5% DCS in PBS. The cells were then cocultured at 4°C by adding 100 µl of CTL and 100µl of targets to FACs tubes for a total of 200 μ l. The cocultures were centrifuged at 4°C at 800 RPM for 3 minutes. At time zero cocultures were incubated in a 37°C water bath for the times stated followed by gentle vortexing and fixation in 200 µl of 4% paraformaldyhyde. Conjugate formation was measured by Flow Cytometric analysis; conjugates were defined as pairs of cells fluorescing both red and green. The percent conjugation was measured by dividing the number of AB.1 conjugates/total number of AB.1.

2.8 MTOC polarization

CTL and target cells were washed as above. Target cell membranes were counterstained with florescence isothyocyanate (FITC) (Molecular

Probes, Hornby, ONT). Targets and CTL were then cocultured at 4 C by centrifugation at 700 RPM followed by incubation at 37 C. After 20 minutes the cells were allowed to adhere to poly-I-lysine cover slips (BD Labware, Two Oak Park, MA) for 5-7 minutes followed by fixation and solublization with cytofix/cytoperm (BD Pharmingen). Slips were washed 2X in perm/wash buffer (BD Pharmingen) and allowed to block for 30 minutes at room temperature followed by addition of Percentrin antibody (Covance, Richmond, CA) specific for the MTOC, and then secondary ALEXA⁵⁹⁴ (Molecular Probes, Hornby, ONT). Excess antibody was washed 2X, using perm/wash buffer, and the slips were fixed in place on slides. MTOC polarization was detected using confocal microscopy. CTL and target cells were identified as conjugated if the CTL membrane adsorbed to the target. The CTL was then sectioned visually into thirds and the position of the MTOC recorded. The MTOC was counted as polarized if it was located within the 1/3 closest to the target.

2.9 Cell Fractionation

5x10⁷ AB.1 were cocultured with 7.5x10⁷ target cells on ice. The cells were loosely pelleted by cold spin at 700 RPM for 3 minutes. The pellets were then incubated at 37°C for the indicated times, the supernatant was aspirated and the pellets resuspended in ice-cold Dounce buffer (10mM Tris/HCl ph 7.6, 0.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM phenylmethyl sulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)) for 10 minutes. Then the mixtures were homogenized, and the tonicity

restored by the addition of 0.6 M NaCl to a 0.15 M final concentration. 40 µl samples of the mixtures, taken at this point and denatured by 2X RSB, were designated as crude. The nuclei were then removed during a cold spin at 500x g for 5 minutes. The post-nuclear supernatant was then treated with EDTA to a 5mM final concentration and the mixtures centrifuged at 100,000x g at 4°C for 45-60 minutes to separate the soluble from the insoluble fractions. The soluble fraction (cytoplasm) was removed as the supernatant and denatured by addition of 2X RSB and the insoluble fraction (membrane + cytoskeleton) resuspended in 0.1% Triton X 100 and allowed to solublize at 4°C for 30-45 minutes. In some experiments, membrane and cytoskeleton were separated by a cold spin at 10 000 x g for 15 minutes. In others, membrane and cytoskeleton were kept together. Samples of each fraction were taken and denatured by addition of 2X RSB.

Denatured fractions were separated by 8.5% SDS-PAGE, transferred to immobilon-p and immunoblotted using antibodies specific for phospho-tyrosine, PKC θ , CD45 RB, and paxillin and their corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies.

Chapter III

PI3K activity is required for Paxillin Phosphorylation and CTL Adhesion.

3.1 Introduction

PI3K is a lipid kinase that has been implicated in multiple cellular processes. Previous studies have shown that PI3K is important for cell spreading on fibronectin (160) (145) implying a role for PI3K in cytoskeletal rearrangements. Others have shown that PI3K activity is required for CTL degranulation (161), indirectly suggesting that cytoskeletal rearrangements are important for effector function. Our lab has found evidence supporting that in fact cytoskeletal rearrangements are required for lymphocyte effector function. Our previous studies have shown that CTL spreading is absolutely required for sustained tyrosine phosphorylation of signaling proteins, which facilitates degranulation; cross-linking the TCR as opposed to stimulating the TCR with immobilized anti-CD3, does not result in sustained tyrosine phosphorylation, nor does it stimulate CTL to degranulate (61)

Although cytoskeletal rearrangements are required, little is known about how TCR initiated signaling events trigger cytoskeletal rearrangement within the cell. The objective for this study involved exploring this question, and determining the candidacy of PI3K as such a player. We hypothesized that if PI3K plays a role in cytoskeletal rearrangements in CTL, then perhaps it could be a potential link between membrane proximal signaling events and

cytoskeletal rearrangement, and as such would be required for CTL effector function.

3.2 PI3K inhibitors inhibit the phosphorylation of AKT, a protein dependent on PI3K activity for its phosphorylation.

In order to test the hypothesis that PI3K is important for cellular processes in CTL clones, we sought out a method to inhibit the activity of PI3K. The two commercially available drug inhibitors of PI3K activity are wortmannin and Ly 294002. Wortmannin, a cell permeable fungal metabolite, acts as a selective, irreversible inhibitor of the catalytic domain of PI3K. Ly 294002, another cell permeable inhibitor of PI3K activity acts reversibly on the ATP binding site of PI3K. Although Ly 294002 is arguably more specific for PI3K then wortmannin, the irreversible nature of wortmannin makes it more useful for experiments involving live cells, and for addressing the effects of completely blocking the activity of PI3K. Moreover, wortmannin is highly specific at concentrations less then 500 nM (162); in the experiments outlined in this thesis, wortmannin is used at concentrations no higher then 100 nM. Thus, to inhibit PI3K activity in CTL we employed the use of both inhibitors for some experiments and selectively used wortmannin for others.

Upon CTL activation, the Ser/Thr kinase AKT, also known as PKB, is recruited to the membrane as a result of interaction between PIP3 with the PH domain of AKT. At the membrane, AKT is phosphorylated by PDK-1 in a PI3K dependent manner and can in turn act on downstream substrates (e.g.

Bad and glycogen synthase kinase GSK). We wanted to ensure that wortmannin and Ly treatment do in fact inhibit PI3K activity and thus, the phosphorylation of AKT. Figure 5A and figure 5B (top panels) show that in CTL, AKT is phosphorylated upon stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody, and that treatment with wortmannin or with Ly 294002 inhibits the phosphorylation of AKT in a concentration dependent manner. Figure 5A and 5B (Bottom panels) show that AKT is present in an unphosphorylated state in all samples. These data support that wortmannin and Ly 294002 treatment are effective inhibitors of PI3K activity as measured through the phosphorylation of downstream substrates.

3.3 PI3K activity is required for CTL degranulation.

A key question that we wanted to address was whether PI3K is required for effector function as measured by degranulation. To answer this question, the CTL clone AB.1 was pre-treated with various concentrations of wortmannin or Ly 294002 to inhibit PI3K activity, and then stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody. After 4.5 hours, degranulation was measured by sampling the supernatant for serine esterase release. Figure (6A) and figure (6B) show that CTL degranulation is inhibited in a concentration dependent manner.

To extend this observation, we also stimulated CTL with antigen bearing target cells (L1210 ^{Kb/Dd}) and found that degranulation was inhibited to the same extent as when CTL were stimulated with anti-CD3 (6A.). The



Figure 5. Wortmannin and LY 294002 treatment inhibit PI3K activity as shown through the phosphorylation of AKT. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with wortmannin (A) or with Ly 294002 (B) at the indicated nM (wortmannin) or μ M (Ly) concentration for 30 minutes at 37°C before stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11(α -CD3) for 20 minutes. Whole cell lysates were blotted using phospho-AKT antibodies (top panel) and AKT antibodies (bottom panel). (-) indicates basal conditions with no no drug treatment. (+) indicates stimulation but no drug treatment. This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.



Figure 6. **PI3K activity is required for optimal CTL degranulation.** AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with wortmannin (A) or with Ly 294002 (B) for 30 minutes at 37°C at the indicated concentrations, prior to stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11 (α -CD3) or with target cells. Target cells bear the relevant MHC (L1210 K^b/D^d). Stimulation lasted for 4.5 hours, after which the supernatants were collected and assayed for serine esterase as an indicator of degranulation. ((A) Unstimulated AB.1 (- \blacksquare -), AB.1 stimulated with immobilized 145-2C11 (-O-), or L1210 K^b/D^d target cells (- \Box -). As a control, L1210 K^b/D^d target cells were cultured alone (- \diamond -).) ((B) (- \blacksquare -) AB.1, pretreated with Ly294002 and stimulated with 145-2C11, (-O-) AB.1 left unstimulated.)

data in figure 6A represent one of three identical experiments where AB.1 were stimulated with target cells bearing the appropriate antigen and wortmannin was used to inhibit PI3K activity. Similar results were found when PI3K was inhibited using Ly 294002 (Appendix Figure 1). These results suggest that PI3K is a critical player in the intracellular events that lead to CTL degranulation.

3.4 PI3K is required for signaling events upstream of the process of degranulation.

Since we, and others have shown that PI3K activity is required for degranulation, we sought to determine if PI3K is required for early or late events leading to degranulation. Therefore we examined the effects of PI3K inhibitors on CTL stimulated to degranulate by a diacylglycerol analogue (TPA) together with a calcium ionophore (lonomycin) thus bypassing membrane proximal signalling events. Figure 7 compares the effects of wortmannin treatment on CTL stimulated with TPA/lonomycin to CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3. This figure, which represents one of three similar experiments, demonstrates that degranulation is inhibited in wortmannin treated cells stimulated with anti-CD3, but not when CTL are stimulated with TPA/lonomycin. This suggests that PI3K is not required for the process of degranulation, but is likely required for the signalling events leading to degranulation by CTL.



Figure 7. **PI3K is required upstream of the process of degranulation**. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with varying concentrations of wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with 145-2C11, or 150ng/ml TPA + 2μ M lonomycin. After 4.5 hours the supernatants were sampled and assayed for serine esterase release. (-O- AB.1 stimulated with 145-2C11, -

- AB.1 stimulated with TPA/Ionomycin, - Δ - AB.1 stimulated with TPA alone, - \blacksquare - AB.1 stimulated with Ionomycin alone, - \square - unstimulated AB.1.)

3.5 PI3K plays a specific role in the tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane proximal proteins upon CTL stimulation.

Because PI3K is important for signaling leading to degranulation of CTL, we set out to determine if inhibiting PI3K affects the tyrosine phosphorylation of proteins involved in early signaling events. In general western blots of whole cell lysates from CTL, pretreated with wortmannin or with Ly 294002, showed that inhibiting PI3K activity had little effect on the tyrosine phosphorylation of membrane proximal proteins (Figure 8A and B Top panel) suggesting, that most early tyrosine phosphorylation pathways are not dependent on PI3K. Interestingly, we found that in the region between 58 and 84 KDa, tyrosine-phosphorylation is specifically inhibited. From our previous studies on paxillin, we recognized that this is the position of the gel where phosphorylated paxillin migrates. We therefore probed the blots with antibody specific for paxillin and found that the shift of paxillin from a faster to a slower migrating species is inhibited with wortmannin or Ly 294002 treatment (Fig 8A and B, middle panel). Figure 8A and B (bottom panel) shows a VAV blot as a loading control. The results shown are representative of three similar experiments.

3.6 PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of Paxillin upon CTL activation.

In order to show that the shift in paxillin from a lower molecular weight form to a higher molecular weight form was in fact due to phosphorylation, and that the shift is inhibited by wortmannin treatment, paxillin was



Figure 8. A. **PI3K activity is required for phosphorylation of a specific subset of proteins**. A. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with wortmannin at the indicated nM concentrations for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11 for 20 minutes. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted with phospho-tyrosine antibody, (top panel), paxillin antibody (middle panel) and Vav antibody (bottom panel).

Α.



Figure 8. B. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with Ly 294002 at the indicated μ M concentrations for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11 for 20 minutes. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted using phospho-tyrosine antibody (top panel), paxillin antibody (middle panel) and Vav antibody (bottom panel).

immunoprecipitated from CTL pre-treated with wortmannin and stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody. Figure 9 (Top panel) shows that paxillin is highly tyrosine phosphorylated upon anti-CD3 stimulation and that this phosphorylation is partially inhibited with wortmannin treatment at 50 and 10 nM. However, wortmannin significantly reduces the mobility shift, which has contributions from Ser/Thr phosphorylation. Alkaline phosphatase treatment confirms that the shift is due to phosphorylation (data not shown). Figure 9 (Middle panel) is a control showing that the protein present from the IP is in fact paxillin.

Because PI3K has a dramatic effect on paxillin phosphorylation, we wanted to address if this effect was direct, through a PI3K/paxillin interaction, or indirect, as a result of other protein interactions and or PIP3 in the membrane. Thus figure 9 (Bottom panel) shows the result of a Paxillin IP stripped and re-probed with antibody specific for the catalytic domain of PI3K. Under the conditions used for the IP, we cannot detect a PI3K/Paxillin complex. The same is true for AKT; a paxillin/AKT physical interaction is not detectable in IPs from AB.1 CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 (data not shown).

Different proteins involved in CTL activation, become phosphorylated at specific times during activation. We next wanted to address the kinetics of paxillin phosphorylation; when it occurs and how long is it maintained during CTL activation. As well we wanted to address whether inhibiting PI3K had an



.

Figure 9. **PI3K activity is required for the Phosphorylation of Paxillin**. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM and 10 nM wortmannin, for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11 for 25 minutes. Reduced paxillin immunoprecipitates and whole cell lysates were blotted with phospho-tyrosine antibody (top panel), paxillin antibody (middle panel), and PI3K antibody (bottom panel). This experiment was repeated 5 times with similar results.
effect on initiating the phosphorylation of paxillin, or in maintaining the phosphorylation of paxillin. Figure 10 shows the results of a kinetic assay addressing these questions wherein CTL were either pre-treated with 50 nM wortmannin or left untreated, and stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 for the indicated times before being lysed under reducing conditions. Figure 10 represents one of three experiments, figure 10A shows a control where the lysates were probed with antibodies specific for tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins and shows that tyrosine phosphorylation increases over time. Figure 10B shows that Paxillin becomes heavily phosphorylated after approximately 20 minutes (top panel) of stimulation with anti-CD3. This form remains unaltered throughout a 60-minute time course of stimulation. Wortmannin treatment impedes the formation of this higher MW form all together and maintains paxillin in a low MW, unphosphorylated form (bottom panel). Taken together these results show that TCR stimulation triggers the phosphorylation of paxillin over time, and that wortmannin treatment inhibits phosphorylation of paxillin.

To extend our observation to CTL stimulated with target cells, we performed an assay whereby CTL were either treated with wortmannin or left untreated and then stimulated through coculture with target cells that do or do not bear the appropriate antigen. Western blot analysis of whole cell lysates shows tyrosine phosphorylation of both CTL and target cell proteins upon coculture (figure 11A). Figure 11B shows that the paxillin shift, likely triggered in both CTL and targets upon coculture, is inhibited with wortmannin



Figure 10. Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated by immobilized α -CD3, requires PI3K activity. AB.1 CTL clones, pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin, or left untreated, were stimulated with 145-2C11 over a time course. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted using antibodies specific for phospho-tyrosine (A) and paxillin (B).



Figure 11. Paxillin Phosphorylation, stimulated with Target cells is dependent on PI3K activity. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C, or left untreated. CTL were then stimulated through coculture with L1210 or with L1210^{kb/Dd} for the indicated time course. Post nuclear, reduced, whole cell lysates were blotted using antibody specific for phospho-tyrosine (A), and paxillin (B). ((+) AB.1 + L1210^{kb/Dd}, (-) AB.1 + L1210, (W) AB.1 + L1210^{Kb/Dd} + 50 nM wortmannin). This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

treatment. Given that paxillin is a cytoskeleton-associated protein, and that its phosphorylation is dependent on PI3K activity, our data implicate a unique role for PI3K activity in cytoskeletal rearrangement through regulation of paxillin.

3.7 PI3K plays a role in CTL spreading on immobilized anti-CD3 coated plates.

One of the most striking characteristics of CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 is the dramatic cytoskeleton driven, morphological change they undergo; after approximately 20 minutes, the CTL spread out and become It is our hypothesis that this spreading is comparable to the flattened. cytoskeletal rearrangements that occur upon CTL/target cell interaction. In support of this, CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 degranulate to the same extent, as cells stimulated with target cells whereas CTL stimulated with soluble or cross-linked anti-CD3 do not. Because degranulation and the phosphorylation of the cytoskeleton associated protein paxillin are dependent on PI3K activity, and because PI3K has been implicated in playing a role in cytoskeletal events in other cell types, we wanted to address if PI3K activity is required for the cytoskeletal events that result in CTL spreading. To answer this question, we stimulated cells with immobilized anti-CD3, and compared the morphology of wortmannin pre-treated to non-treated CTL. Figure 12A shows that untreated cells spread on an anti-CD3 coated plate after 20



Figure 12. **PI3K plays a role in CTL spreading on immobilized** α -**CD3.** AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with the indicated concentrations of wortmannin followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11. At 25 minutes spreading was visualized using light microscopy. Arrows indicate cells that have spread. This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results. minutes. Compared to control cells, AB.1 pre-treated with wortmannin are inhibited from spreading on the antibody-coated surface (Figure 12B. and (figure 12C). Ly 294002 pre-treatment also inhibited spreading at concentrations of 50 and 10 μ M (data not shown).

3.8 Wortmannin inhibits conjugate formation between CTL and target cells.

Given that cell/cell adhesion directly relies on cytoskeletal rearrangement and given that PI3K appears to play a role in CTL spreading on anti-CD3 coated plates, we hypothesized that PI3K may play a role in the formation of, or stabilization of CTL/target cell conjugates, the formation of which is necessary for effector function. To test this hypothesis we compared the percent of conjugates formed in untreated samples containing CTL (labeled with green lipophilic dye) with targets (labeled with red lipophilic dye) to samples where the CTL had been pre-treated with wortmannin and then cocultured with targets. At various time points, conjugates were fixed with 4% paraformaldyhyde and counted using Flow Cytometric analysis. Figure 13 shows that wortmannin treated CTL form fewer conjugates with targets than untreated CTL. The figure also shows that conjugate formation is blocked when the interaction between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 is interrupted using anti-LFA-1 antibodies. This data suggests that PI3K plays a role in TCR triggered LFA-1 mediated adhesion.



Figure 13. **PI3K activity is required for the optimal formation of CTL /Target cell conjugates**. AB.1 CTL clones were stained with green lipophilic dye followed by pretreatment with 50 nM wortmannin, or left untreated. L1210 and L1210 ^{Kb/Dd} were stained with red lipophilic dye. Targets and CTL were co-cultured at 37°C and conjugates were allowed to form. At the indicated time point's conjugates were vortexed, fixed and quantified using Flow Cytometric analysis. This experiment is representative of 5 experiments all showing a similar pattern of inhibition.

3.9 MTOC polarization requires conjugate formation in a PI3K dependent manner.

Others have shown in NK cells that PI3K activity is required for MTOC (microtubule organizing center) polarization (163). Given our data that PI3K plays a role in multiple activities required for CTL degranulation (cell spreading, conjugate formation, paxillin phosphorylation), combined with the fact that MTOC polarization is a cytoskeletal event also required for degranulation, and found to be PI3K dependent in other cell types, we addressed whether PI3K activity is required for MTOC polarization in CTL. MTOC reorientation is an early event in CTL activation that occurs shortly after conjugate formation, wherein the MTOC becomes polarized towards the target cell. This reorientation involves the repositioning of the Golgi apparatus and facilitates directed secretion of cytolytic granules. Interestingly, paxillin has been shown to associate with γ tubulin, which is the major tubulin component of the MTOC. In order to address whether PI3K plays a role in MTOC polarization in CTL, we counter stained target cells using FITC, drug treated CTL with 50 nM wortmannin, or left them untreated, and then cocultured unstained CTL with green targets at 37°C for 20 minutes. We then applied drops of cocultured cells onto poly-l-lysine coated cover slips, fixed, permeablized and stained the cells with red pericentrin (antibody specific for MTOC). Using confocal microscopy, we visualized MTOC polarization in individual conjugates and quantified polarization in multiple conjugates. Figure 14A shows a positive control where the MTOC





Β.



AB.1+ L1210 ^{kb/Dd} (+ 've control)

AB.1 + L1210 ^{Kb/Dd} + 50 nM wortmannin

C.

	Negative control L1210 + AB.1	Positive control L1210 ^{Kb/Dd} + AB.1	Experimental L1210 ^{Kb/Dd} + AB.1 + 50 nM Wor
Total AB.1	100	100	100
Conjugates	12	65	32
Polarized MTOC	5	54	23
% polarization	NA	84%	72%

Figure 14. **PI3K dependent conjugate formation is required for MTOC polarization.** AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by coculture with targets prestained with FITC. After 20 minutes conjugates were fixed and solublized with cytofix/cytoperm and the MTOC stained with pericentrin primary antibody and red labeled anti-rabbit secondary antibody. MTOC polarization was visualized using confocal microscopy. (Arrows indicate polarized MTOC). This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results. (Note: we do not typically observe decreased staining in wortmannin treated cells.) of the untreated CTL is polarized towards the target L1210 ^{Kb/Dd}. Figure 14B shows that pre-treatment with wortmannin can inhibit the polarization of the MTOC. In the negative controls, the numbers of conjugates were very low, and MTOC polarization, where it occurred, could not be attributed to known mechanisms of conjugation. Figure 14C reveals that although the number of conjugated CTL with polarized MTOC in drug treated samples is only around 13% less than in non-treated, drug treated CTL form approximately 50% fewer conjugates than non-treated. This suggests that although wortmannin does inhibit conjugate formation, it does not appear to affect MTOC reorientation.

3.10 Summary of Results

The results detailed in this chapter consist of three major findings. First, PI3K activity is required for initiating CTL degranulation, but is not required for the process of degranulation since PI3K inhibitors do not inhibit TPA and lonomycin induced degranulation. Second, paxillin is dependent on PI3K activity for complete phosphorylation in CTL. Third, PI3K plays a role in cytoskeletal rearrangement and adhesion. Together this chapter supports the hypothesis that PI3K contributes to cytoskeletal rearrangement and is required for CTL effector function.

Chapter IV

PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC $\boldsymbol{\theta}$

4.1 Introduction

Our previous results indicate that PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of specific signaling proteins that become activated early upon TCR stimulation in CTL. The first protein whose phosphorylation we found to be dependent on PI3K activity, the cytoskeletal-associated protein paxillin, plays an important role in cytoskeletal rearrangement. Given the involvement of PI3K in the regulation of paxillin, together with its role in CTL spreading, we hypothesized that PI3K may play a role in the regulation of and correspondingly the phosphorylation of other cytoskeleton associated proteins. Our first approach to explore this possibility was to look more closely at previous findings that PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav-1.

4.2 PI3K activity is not required for Vav phosphorylation in CTL.

Given that PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of paxillin and given that others have shown that the PH domain of Vav-1 (a Rho-family GEF implicated in cytoskeletal rearrangements) contributes to its phosphorylation and activation (140), we next addressed if PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of Vav-1. In order to address this question, we immunoprecipitated Vav-1 from CTL, pre-treated with PI3K inhibitors, and stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 for 20 minutes (a time of peak Vav-1 phosphorylation in our AB.1 CTL clones). We then looked specifically at the tyrosine phosphorylation of Vav by probing the membrane with antibody specific for phospho-tyrosine containing proteins. Figure 15 (top panel) shows that the phosphorylation of Vav is not affected by wortmannin treatment. To ensure that the protein pulled down by immunoprecipitation was indeed Vav; we re-probed the blots with antibodies specific for Vav (middle panel) and found that Vav was successfully recovered from the CTL lysates.

Importantly, other studies have shown that Vav and PKC θ can associate physically with one another. Moreover, PKC θ is a unique isoform of PKC, highly expressed in T cells, and implicated as a potential bridge between cytoskeletal rearrangement and downstream signalling events (164). Given the relevance of PKC θ to Vav and potentially to the cytoskeleton, we stripped and re-probed the blots with antibody specific for PKC θ to see if the interaction between PKC and Vav was affected by wortmannin treatment. In our CTL we found no detectable association between Vav and PKC, (bottom right panel) however, in the cell lysates we noticed that inhibiting PI3K activity resulted in inhibiting the conversion of PKC from a faster to a slower migrating species. Instead of having an effect on Vav, we were intrigued to find that wortmannin treatment affects the mobility of PKC θ , seemingly independent of Vav. Figure 15 represents one of three experiments, all with similar results.



Figure 15. PI3K activity is not required for Vav phosphorylation in CTL, but may effect the mobility of PKC θ . AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM and 10 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11. Vav immunoprecipitates and reduced whole cell lysates were blotted with phospho-tyrosine (top panel), Vav (middle panel) and PKC θ antibodies.

4.3 PI3K activity is required for the formation of a higher molecular weight form of PKC θ , and for the phosphorylation of ERK.

In order to further study the shift in PKC θ with regard to AB.1 stimulation, and the inhibition of the shift with wortmannin treatment, we performed a similar drug titration assay to what is seen in figure 8. Figure 16 A and B (middle panels) show that wortmannin or Ly 294002 treatment of CTL prior to stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 inhibits the shift in PKC θ from a lower to a higher MW form in a concentration dependent manner. Also, because MAP kinase activation has in some systems been linked to PKC signaling, and because PI3K has been suggested in other experimental systems to be upstream of ERK activation, we also probed the blots with antibodies specific for phospho-ERK and found as shown in figure 16A and B (bottom panels) that the phosphorylation of ERK depends on PI3K activity (as illustrated through inhibition of the shift of ERK from a faster migrating, unphosphorylated form to a slower migrating phosphorylated form).

4.4 PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC θ .

To determine if the shift in PKC θ from a faster to a slower migrating species was due to phosphorylation, we immunoprecipitated PKC θ from CTL pretreated with wortmannin and stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 for 20 minutes (a time point of optimal PKC-phosphorylation). In addition, we treated one sample of immunoprecipitated PKC θ with alkaline phosphatase to remove phosphate groups from the protein. Figure 17 (top panel) shows



Figure 16. A. **PI3K activity is required for the formation of a slower migrating species of PKC** θ and for the phosphorylation of ERK. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted with phosphotyrosine (top panel), PKC θ (middle panel) and phospho-ERK (bottom panel) antibodies. This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.



Figure 16. B. CTL clones were pretreated with Ly 294002 and treated as in A.



Figure 17. PKC θ is dependent on PI3K activity for phosphorylation but does not co-immunoprecipitate with PI3K nor with AKT. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM and 10 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11. Reduced whole cell lysates and IPs were blotted with phospho-tyrosine (1^{rst} panel), PKC θ (2nd panel), Vav (3rd panel), PI3K (4th panel), and AKT antibodies (5th panel). AP designates Alkaline phosphatase treatment. This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

that PKC θ is not tyrosine phosphorylated to a detectable extent, although repeats of this experiment suggest a small degree of tyrosine phosphorylation. Figure 17 also shows that the shift in PKC θ is due to phosphorylation as alkaline phosphatase treatment inhibits the formation of the upper band (2nd panel). The second panel also shows that wortmannin treatment inhibits the serine/threonine phosphorylation of PKC θ . As expected, we were unable to detect a physical association between PKC and VAV (3rd panel), nor could we detect an association between PKC θ and PI3K (4th panel), nor between PKC θ and AKT (5th panel).

As with paxillin, we wanted to address the kinetics of PKC θ phosphorylation, when it occurs and how long is it maintained during CTL activation. As well we wanted to address whether inhibiting PI3K had an effect on the initial formation of the phosphorylated form, or in maintaining the phosphorylated form. Figure 18 shows the results of a kinetic assay addressing these questions wherein CTL were either pre-treated with 50 nM wortmannin or left untreated, and stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 for the indicated times before being lysed under reducing conditions. Figure 18A represents a control where whole cell lysates were blotted with antibodies specific for tyrosine-phosphorylated protein and shows that tyrosine phosphorylated after approximately 10 minutes of stimulation with anti-CD3. The phosphorylated form remains present throughout a 60-minute time course of stimulation. Wortmannin treatment inhibits the phosphorylation of



Figure 18. PKC θ phosphorylation, stimulated by immobilized α -CD3, requires PI3K activity. AB.1 CTL clones, pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin, or left untreated, were stimulated with 145-2C11 over a time course. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted using antibodies specific for phospho-tyrosine (A) and PKC θ (B). This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

PKC θ , and this inhibition is more severe at later versus earlier time points. An alternative explanation is that wortmannin could be stabilizing the lower band by increasing the expression of, or more likely inhibiting the degradation of the faster migrating species. To extend our observation to CTL stimulated with target cells, we first wanted to assess the expression pattern of PKC θ in our CTL versus the target cells. All cells, analyzed for PKC θ expression have been shown to express the protein under both basal and stimulatory conditions. Figure 19A shows that AB.1 CTL clones express PKC θ whereas our L1210 lymphoma target cell line does not. Figure 19B shows that coculture with target cells stimulates protein tyrosine-phosphorylation. Figure 19B also shows that when CTL are stimulated through coculture with target cells following pre-treatment with wortmannin the phosphorylation of PKC θ is inhibited, as compared with untreated controls. Moreover, the inhibition is more severe at later time points (20 and 40 minutes), similar to what is seen in CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3.

4.5 TPA stimulates the phosphorylation of PKC θ independently of PI3K activity.

TPA, being a diacyl glycerol analogue, stimulates the phosphorylation of classical PKCs. Given that TPA and ionomycin stimulate degranulation of CTL independently of PI3K activity, we hypothesized that TPA would stimulate the phosphorylation of PKC θ independently of PI3K activity. To show this we first needed to determine if TPA stimulated the phosphorylation



Figure 19. PKC θ phosphorylation, stimulated with Target cells is dependent on PI3K activity. (A) reduced, whole cell lysates of AB.1 CTL clones and L1210 lymphomas were blotted for PKC θ . (B) AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C, or left untreated. CTL were then stimulated through coculture with L1210 or with L1210^{kb/Dd} for the indicated time course. Post nuclear, reduced, whole cell lysates were blotted using antibody specific for phospho-tyrosine (top panel), and PKC θ (bottom panel). ((+) AB.1 + L1210^{kb/Dd},(-) AB.1 + L1210, (W) AB.1 + L1210^{Kb/Dd} + 50 nM wortmannin). This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

of PKC θ . Thus we immunoprecipitated PKC θ from CTL stimulated with TPA and treated one sample with alkaline phosphatase. Figure 20A shows that the shift in PKC θ stimulated by TPA is a result of phosphorylation as alkaline phosphatase reduces the shift to the basal level. Figure 20B (middle panel) shows that PKC θ remains phosphorylated in whole cell lysates from CTL pretreated with wortmannin and stimulated with TPA as compared with PKC from cell lysates stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3. As expected, stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 results in the phosphorylation of AKT downstream of PI3K (20B bottom panel) however; we cannot detect AKT phosphorylation in CTL stimulated with TPA. Together these results suggest that PI3K contributes to the phosphorylation of PKC θ via an alternative pathway from that which is stimulated by TPA alone.

4.6 PKC θ exists in an unphosphorylated form in the CTL membrane under basal conditions.

Given that serine/threonine phosphorylation of PKC θ is PI3K dependent, we wanted to address the effect of phosphorylation on the localization of PKC θ . In order to answer this question, we first needed to assess the localization of PKC θ under basal and stimulatory conditions. We used the lack of expression of PKC θ in target cells to specifically address the localization of PKC θ in CTL upon target cell stimulation. CTL were stimulated by coculture with target cells for 5 and 20 minutes. Cell lysates were fractioned into crude, soluble, membrane and cytoskeletal components



Figure 20. TPA stimulates the phosphorylation of PKC θ via a pathway independent of PI3K. (A) PKC θ was Immunoprecipitated from AB.1 left unstimulated, or stimulated with TPA. One of two stimulated samples was treated with alkaline phosphatase. IPs were blotted with antibody specific for PKC θ . (B) AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with 50 nM wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37°C followed by stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11 or with TPA. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted with phospho-tyrosine (top panel), PKC θ (middle panel), and phospho-AKT (bottom panel) antibodies. These experiments were repeated 3 times with similar results.

via ultra-centrifugation methods and Triton X 100 solublization. These fractions were then analyzed through western blotting to assess the localization of PKC θ . Figure 21 (top panel) shows that in the crude fraction, target with antigen-bearing cells results in tyrosine stimulation phosphorylation of proteins. Figure 21 (2nd panel) shows that PKC θ is present at the membrane under basal conditions, and is phosphorylated under stimulatory conditions. Figure 21 (3rd panel) shows that CD45 is present in the crude fraction, as well as the membrane fraction, but not in the soluble fraction illustrating that separation between the fractions is complete. Figure 21 (4th panel) illustrates that the majority of paxillin in both the CTL and target cells is present in the insoluble fraction, and that paxillin is phosphorylated upon target cell stimulation.

4.7 PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of PKC θ at the membrane.

In other systems PKC θ relocalizes to the membrane upon cell stimulation where it participates in forming the c-SMAC (104). Given that the phosphorylation of PKC θ in our CTL is dependent on PI3K, and given that wortmannin treatment inhibits that phosphorylation of PKC θ , we wanted to use this experimental system to address the effect of PI3K-dependent phosphorylation on PKC with regard to localization. So, we used the method outlined for figure 21 to illustrate the effect of wortmannin treatment on PKC θ localization. Our results showed that PKC θ association with the membrane does not change significantly with wortmannin treatment; however, as



Figure 21. **PKC** θ is localized at the membrane regardless of stimulation. AB.1 CTL clones were stimulated by coculture with target cells for the indicated time periods. Conjugates were lysed and the cell components separated into the indicated fractions. Reduced proteins in each fraction were blotted with phospho-tyrosine (top panel), PKC θ (2nd panel) CD45 (3rd panel) and paxillin antibodies (4th panel). ((+) indicates CTL cocultured with antigen bearing targets, (-) indicates CTL cocultured with control targets).



Figure 22. **PKC** θ **localization with Drug Treatment** AB.1 CTL clones, where indicated, were pretreated with wortmannin, and stimulated by coculture with target cells for the indicated time periods. Conjugates were lysed and post nuclear cell lysates, separated into the indicated fractions. Reduced proteins in each fraction were blotted with antibody for PKC θ . ((+) AB.1 + L1210 ^{kb/Dd}, (-) AB.1 + L1210, (W) AB.1 + L1210 ^{kb/Dd} + 50 nM wortmannin.) This experiments was repeated 5 times with similar results.

expected, the phosphorylation of PKC θ at the membrane is inhibited with wortmannin treatment (figure 22 top panel).

4.8 The phosphorylation of PKC θ is dependent on the integrity of the cytoskeleton.

The presence of PKC θ in lipid rafts, as well as PKCs' dependency on PI3K activity for phosphorylation, suggest that PKC θ phosphorylation is downstream of cytoskeletal rearrangement. We wanted to determine if PKC phosphorylation actually requires cytoskeletal rearrangement to take place, thus we performed an assay whereby cytoskeletal integrity was disrupted using cytochalasin E after a 15-minute stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3. Figure 23 (2nd panel) shows that the phosphorylation of PKC θ is inhibited when the integrity of the cytoskeleton is disrupted. Moreover, the degree of inhibition of phosphorylation mirrors that seen with wortmannin treatment. This suggests that PI3K contributes to cytoskeletal rearrangement and thus in the phosphorylation of PKC θ .

4.9 Summary of Results

The results detailed in this chapter consist of two major findings. First, PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC θ and ERK. Second, PKC θ is downstream of and dependent on cytoskeletal integrity for its phosphorylation. Together this data suggests that PI3K plays a key role in cytoskeleton-dependent phosphorylation of proteins involved in key signalling processes it CTL.



Figure 23. Phosphorylation of PKC θ depends on an intact cytoskeleton. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with wortmannin, or left untreated for 30 minutes prior to stimulation with immobilized 145-2C11. At 15 minutes cytochalasin E was added to the indicated samples. Reduced whole cell lysates were blotted using phospho-tyrosine (top panel) and PKC θ antibodies (bottom panel). This experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

Chapter V

Discussion

5.1 Summary of Results

This study reveals that PI3K activity is required for CTL activation and degranulation. The findings in this study support previous work also suggesting that PI3K is required for CTL degranulation, but not for Fas Ligand mediated killing (161). Although Fuller et al. showed in 1999 that PI3K is required for degranulation; their research did not delineate a clear role for PI3K in degranulation. Our data support a role for PI3K in upstream signaling events that facilitate degranulation. We show that PI3K activity is required for degranulation as stimulated through the TCR, but not for degranulation stimulated by phorbol ester and calcium ionophore. Moreover, in contrast to results in NK cells showing that PI3K is involved in MTOC polarization and degranulation, our results suggest that PI3K plays a role upstream of MTOC polarization in a process that precedes polarization such as CTL/target cell conjugation or adhesion. Our finding that PI3K plays a role upstream in CTL signaling, rather then downstream in the process of degranulation, is novel and opens up the field for research into the mechanism of PI3K involvement. This study highlights some of the potential mechanisms for PI3K involvement and provides evidence that PI3K plays a critical role in the signaling events that trigger cytoskeletal rearrangement.

5.2 Upstream Mechanisms of PI3K activity in CTL activation and effector function

The potential mechanisms of PI3K involvement in CTL activation and effector function include: a role in the localization and phosphorylation of proteins involved in cytoskeletal rearrangement, cell spreading, and adhesion, as well as a role in the localization and phosphorylation of potential adaptor proteins that link cytoskeletal rearrangement and downstream signaling events.

5.2.1 Cytoskeleton Associated Proteins Regulated by PI3K

PI3K has been implicated in the activity of the Rho-family G-proteins Rac-1, Rho and Cdc42, which contribute to the dynamic organization of the actin cytoskeleton and the clustering of integrins (127) (138) (139). PI3K is thought to regulate these G-proteins by contributing to the activation of upstream guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) that facilitate Gprotein activation. All GEFs are members of the dbl family of proteins and as such contain PH domains (165). One example of a GEF that has been well studied in the context of T cells is Vav-1. In a number of experimental systems, Vav-1 has been shown to be a key contributor to T cell activation and cytoskeletal rearrangement. Some of the findings include: 1) that the proper function of Vav is important for receptor induced activation of MAP kinase ERK, and the transcription factors NFAT and NF κ B (46), (47), (166), 2) Vav deficient T cells fail to undergo TCR receptor clustering and actin polymerization (94) (47) (96), and 3) Vav signaling is required for lipid raft clustering in T cells; lipid rafts do not translocate to the immunological synapse in Vav deficient T cells upon antigen stimulation (167). Moreover, the PH domain of Vav-1 has been shown to associate with PIP3, an interaction that promotes tyrosine kinase mediated activation of this enzyme (140). In our AB.1 CTL clones, Vav-1 is phosphorylated upon stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies, however in contrast with previous work (168) Vav-1 in AB.1 remains phosphorylated when PI3K is biochemically inhibited. Thus, a role for PI3K in the activation of Vav is unclear in our system.

As well, PIP3 generated by PI3K, has been shown to contribute to the activation of WASp; PIP3 interacts with the PH domain of WASp and facilitates its localization to the membrane (73) (141) where it is activated and takes on an open conformation. Open conformation WASp binds Arp2/3, triggering Arp2/3 association with actin resulting in actin polymerization. PI3K may play a role in cytoskeletal rearrangement by contributing to the localization, phosphorylation and activation of cytoskeleton-associated proteins including Vav, and WASp, thus facilitating CTL effector function.

5.3 PI3K Regulates the Phosphorylation of Paxillin

Our results clearly show that PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of paxillin; paxillin is phosphorylated upon CTL stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody, or with target cells, and phosphorylation is inhibited when PI3K activity is inhibited. Paxillin is an important

cytoskeletal protein that localizes to sites of adhesion with the extracellular matrix and becomes phosphorylated upon CTL activation (107) (108). The tyrosine phosphorylation of paxillin is thought to be important for cell spreading on ECM (109), and for adhesion dependent functions in leukocytes (110), although the signaling pathway that paxillin contributes to remains unclear. Paxillin is known to function as an adaptor molecule, providing docking sites for both structural (tensin, α -actin and vinculin) and regulatory proteins (focal adhesion kinase (FAK)) (106) and as such, is thought to play a key role in cytoskeletal rearrangement. Interestingly, phosphorylated paxillin has also been shown to associate with Lck (61). Taken together with our data, showing that paxillin is phosphorylated in a PI3K dependent manner, we suggest that paxillin may work downstream of PI3K to connect membrane proximal signaling events with cytoskeletal rearrangements involved in cell spreading and cell/cell adhesion.

5.3.1 Potential mechanism of PI3K-dependent Paxillin regulation

The finding that PI3K is required for paxillin phosphorylation is novel, thus, little has been done to assess the mechanism for PI3K involvement in paxillin phosphorylation. We propose two potential mechanisms. First, Paxillin directly associates with FAK (106), as does PI3K (160). It is possible that this physical interaction results in the phosphorylation of paxillin, either via conformational change in paxillin or via the ill-described protein kinase activity of PI3K. However, in our CTL clones, we cannot detect a physical association between paxillin and PI3K, suggesting that another mechanism orchestrates the phosphorylation of paxillin in a PI3K dependent manner.

Paxillin has recently been found to exist in a complex of proteins that include PAK/Paxillin/p95PKL/and Pix β . Pix β , a novel Rac-1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor first identified in 1998, contains a PH domain (142) (143) and has been found in Rat Brain and Hela cells to be dependent on PI3K (144) for localization and activation. Assuming the same complex exists in CTL, it is plausible that the PH domain of Pix β plays a role in localization of the PAK/Paxillin/p95PKL/Pix complex to the membrane upon T cell activation. However, recent studies in Jurkat have suggested that in fact paxillin is absent from the complex (112). Although we have not been able to detect p95PKL, nor Pix β in our paxillin immunoprecipitations, we cannot rule out the possibility that this complex exists in our AB.1 CTL clones. The association of paxillin with p95PKL would suggest that PI3K regulates the phosphorylation of paxillin by contributing to the production of PIP3, which correspondingly binds the PH domain of Pix β (or Pix α) and facilitates the relocation of the PAK/Paxillin/p95PKL/Pix complex to the membrane where paxillin can become phosphorylated. In support of this model, Pak has been implicated in MAP kinase signalling (111); our data support a role for PI3K in the phosphorylation of MAP-kinase. It is plausible that PI3K contributes to the phosphorylation of ERK by contributing to the localization of PAK, thus facilitating PAK activation, and downstream ERK activation.

Other potential mechanisms for the role of PI3K in paxillin phosphorylation are implied by studies using paxillin knockout mice. Fibroblasts from the paxillin KOs have abnormal focal adhesions, decreased cell migration, inefficient localization and phosphorylation of FAK, and decreased cell spreading on fibronectin. The contribution of paxillin to focal adhesions comes as no surprise, however the finding that paxillin deficient fibroblasts are impaired in cell spreading is somewhat intriguing as it suggests that paxillin may be an effector of Rac, a G-protein directly implicated in T cell spreading (169). In this pathway paxillin phosphorylation may depend on PI3K as a result of PIP3-dependent activation of an unknown GEF, upstream of Rac. A simple way to address this possibility would be to examine the phosphorylation of paxillin in Rac deficient mice.

5.3.2 Future directions

Future directions in this area include studies addressing whether or not paxillin physically associates with p95PKL and Pix β . If the complex exists, addressing whether the phosphorylation of PKL or Pix β is dependent on PI3K activity would be our next step. Another pertinent study involves the direct assessment of whether or not the localization of paxillin, PKL or Pix β is PI3K dependent. These studies could be done using confocal microscopy, western blotting and immunoprecipitation techniques.

That paxillin is required for cytoskeletal rearrangement is well documented; however it remains to be clarified if phosphorylation is required for paxillin-mediated cell processes. A preliminary approach to answering this

question would be to design a dominant negative mutant of paxillin that is incapable of being phosphorylated, and test the effects of this mutant on focal adhesion formation and cell spreading. Another important question that needs to be answered is: what protein is phosphorylating paxillin. Simply putting purified PI3K together with paxillin *in vitro* may answer this question. Perhaps most important of this line of research is to address if paxillin phosphorylation is ablated or impaired in PI3K KO mice.

5.4 PI3K plays a role in CTL Spreading

Our data suggests that PI3K is activated upstream of cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell spreading; AKT is phosphorylated in CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 as well as CTL stimulated with cross-linked anti-CD3 (data not shown). Moreover, our results show that PI3K activity is required for CTL spreading on immobilized anti-CD3 antibody; CTL spread and become flattened after approximately 20 minutes, when stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody, however this rapid spreading does not occur when CTL are treated with PI3K inhibitors.

The mechanical process of cell spreading is correlated with sustained tyrosine phosphorylation; membrane proximal proteins in T cells stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 undergo sustained tyrosine phosphorylation whereas proteins in T cells stimulated with cross-linked anti-CD3 do not. Moreover, sustained tyrosine phosphorylation facilitates effector function, whereas transient phosphorylation does not (61). Previous studies have

implicated PI3K in cell spreading in other cell types. Lowell *et al.* have shown that blocking PI3K activity inhibits macrophage spreading on fibronectin (145). As well, treatment of platelets with PI3K inhibitors results in inhibition of normal actin cytoskeletal rearrangements (146). Cell spreading could be one consequence of PI3K involvement in the localization and phosphorylation of proteins involved in cytoskeletal rearrangements.

5.4.1 Potential Mechanism for the involvement of PI3K in CTL spreading

Previous studies have shown associations between PIP3 in the membrane and actin polymerization; PI3K localizes to the membrane upon ligand stimulation (170), where it becomes important for interactions with the actin cytoskeleton (145). Haugh et al used a GFP-AKT fusion protein to show that PIP3 localizes to the contact site between fibroblasts and the ECM, defining a peripheral zone within which actin is preferentially polarized (171). This study suggests that upon CTL activation, the generation of PIP3 may directly facilitate actin polymerization. Alternatively, PIP3 is known to contribute to the localization and activation of WASp, a cytoskeleton associated protein known to interact with Apr2/3 and actin filaments. Thus PI3K activity could play a role in cell spreading through the localization and activation of WASp. WASp relocation to the membrane in a PIP3 dependent manner, adjacent to the cytoplasmic portion of a ligated signalling receptor protein tyrosine kinase, could induce actin polymerization and cell spreading.
The G-protein Rac has also been implicated in T cell spreading (169); active Rac mutants, transfected into Jurkats induce cell spreading on fibronectin in a wortmannin and Ly294002 sensitive manner. Interestingly the researchers argue that, because expressing a membrane associated form of PI3K in Jurkat fails to induce cell spreading, the sensitivity of Rac-induced spreading to PI3K inhibitors is a result of drug-specificity overlap to another PI kinase. This argument can be refuted by evidence suggesting that PI3K is constitutively active in Jurkat, thus transfecting in more PI3K should have little effect on the cell (172). A means to clarify this argument is to cotransfect Rac together with membrane associated PI3K into Rac KO T cells and look for augmented cell spreading.

5.4.2 Future Directions

As an extension to our studies addressing CTL spreading on immobilized anti-CD3 after 20 minutes, we also addressed if spreading is completely inhibited over a longer period of time, or if spreading is simply delayed when PI3K activity is inhibited. Our preliminary results suggest that in fact, spreading delayed, supporting a role for PI3K in optimizing the cytoskeletal events involved in cell spreading (data not shown). On an intracellular level, this suggests that PI3K activity, and the generation of PIP3, contribute to but are not the only mechanisms of localization and regulation of proteins that facilitate cell spreading.

Another area of study that we addressed is whether or not actin polymerization is inhibited in CTL treated with PI3K inhibitors and stimulated

with target cells. Although a role for PI3K in AB.1 actin polymerization is likely, actin polymerization only occurs in conjugates. Thus, where conjugate formation was inhibited, so was actin polymerization. This suggests that contact and conjugate formation precedes actin polymerization in our CTL, and that the role of PI3K in actin polymerization cannot be assessed using this system.

Other questions that should be addressed include assessing the role for PI3K in CTL spreading on fibronectin in concert with immobilized anti-CD3, as well as CTL spreading on immobilized anti-CD3 with immobilized ICAM. These studies would increase the validity of a role for PI3K in cell spreading as an extension of what is seen *in vivo*; stimulation and the induction of cell spreading as a result of integrin ligation followed by TCR ligation would more resemble what is seen *in vivo*. An even more poignant question is whether or not cell spreading is impaired in PI3K KO T cells.

5.5 PI3K plays a role in CTL Adhesion to target cells

Our results suggest that PI3K activity is required for CTL adhesion to target cells; wortmannin treatment inhibits the formation of AB.1 CTL/ L1210^{KB/DD} conjugates. Adhesion of the T cell to a target cell is critical for initiating T cell activation and effector function. Adhesion results from LFA-1/ICAM interactions, as well as from CD8 interaction with MHC class I; these interactions facilitate T cell/ target cell tethering allowing the TCR to survey the target for antigen. If the right antigen is present, the T cell becomes

activated in response to TCR/coreceptor signalling. To further stabilize the interaction between an activated T cell and a target, TCR signalling triggers inside out signalling events that increase the affinity of LFA-1/ICAM interactions. This increased affinity and stability facilitates long lasting conjugation resulting in sustained signalling, CTL activation, and degranulation.

Previous studies supporting a role for PI3K in adhesion include a study done in 1997 by King *et al.*, which showed that plating fibroblasts on fibronectin-coated surfaces caused the clustering of surface integrins, leading to enhanced PI3K activation (152) suggesting that adhesion and PI3K activation are interrelated. More recently, studies suggest a role for PI3K in the inside-out signaling that facilitates tight conjugate formation (155), (151), (156). A consequence of PI3K involvement in the recruitment and phosphorylation/regulation of proteins may be that PI3K contributes to localization and activation of proteins involved in adhesion.

5.5.1 Mechanism of PI3K involvement in Adhesion

CTL conjugation is mediated by LFA-1 and CD8 to different extents. In T lymphocytes, signalling through a variety of receptors including the T cell receptor and CD28 results in the induction of integrin activation (147), (148), (149) and increases the affinity of CD8 for class I MHC (41). At the same time, signalling through these receptors results in the recruitment and activation of PI3K at the membrane. Thus, we, and others (150) have

postulated that PI3K participates in signalling events that mediate inside out signalling, resulting in integrin activation and CD8 affinity enhancement.

One possible mechanism of PI3K involvement in inside-out signalling may involve Vav-1. Vav-1 has been implicated as an important signalling component in many aspects of cytoskeletal rearrangement, including inside-out signalling; peripheral T cells in Vav^{-/-} deficient mice are unable to form conjugates with peptide-loaded APCs (173). PI3K has been implicated in the recruitment and activation of Vav-1. Although we do not observe PI3K dependent phosphorylation of Vav-1 when our CTL are stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 antibody, we do see inhibition of conjugate formation between CTL and specific targets. Perhaps some of the inside out signals that result from TCR together with LFA-1 signalling trigger Vav-1 phosphorylation in a PI3K dependent manner, and result in increased LFA-1 avidity for its ligand. By stimulating with immobilized anti-CD3 alone, we bypass the need for LFA-1 mediated adhesion altogether.

Recent studies further implicate PI3K in inside out signalling; crosslinking either α -4 integrins or the CD3 on Jurkat cells induces adhesion to ICAM-1 in a PI3K dependent manner (155). A potential mechanism for the involvement of PI3K in increased adhesion may involve cytohesin-1. Studies on cytohesin-1, a cytoplasmic regulator of β 2 integrin adhesion to ICAM-1, have shown that cytohesin-1 recruitment to the cytoplasmic domain of LFA-1 is PI3K dependent (151). Cytohesin-1 contains a PH domain that specifically interacts with PIP3 in the membrane facilitating not only compartmentalization

for cytohesin-1, but also contributing to the specificity of the GEF activity of cytohesin-1 (151), (153), (154). These data suggest that PI3K is an upstream regulator of cytohesin-1 and as such may contribute to inside out signalling and cell/cell adhesion.

PI3K may also contribute to adhesion by signalling the avidity enhancement of CD8. Mescher *et al.* have found evidence supporting a role for PI3K in the signalling events that initiate with TCR stimulation and result in the up-regulation of CD8 dependent adhesion (156). This data implicates PI3K in the regulation of an unknown cytoplasmic regulator of CD8 adhesion.

Taken together, these results strongly suggest that PI3K is an important regulator of integrin-mediated adhesion as well as a participant in the inside-out signalling events that trigger avidity enhancement of CD8.

5.5.2 Future Directions

An important question that needs to be answered with regard to the involvement of PI3K in adhesion is the mechanism. Although it is likely that PI3K regulates the localization of cytoplasmic regulators of LFA-1 adhesion, such as cytohesin-1, the PIP3/cytohesin-1 interaction must be confirmed in our CTL clones. One key area of research includes addressing the expression, phosphorylation, and localization of cytohesin-1, under conditions of PI3K activity and inactivity. As well, it is likely that PI3K contributes to the localization and phosphorylation of other players involved in adhesion. Taking a closer look at some of the less-well defined proteins that contain PH domains, using dominant negative and knockout studies in T cells and

specifically addressing adhesion, could help to flesh out other proteins that play a role in inside-out signaling in a PI3K dependent manner.

5.6 PI3K plays a role in the Phosphorylation of PKC θ

Our results show that PI3K activity is required for the phosphorylation of PKC θ ; PKC θ is phosphorylated upon CTL stimulation with immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies and with target cells, phosphorylation is inhibited when CTL are pretreated with PI3K inhibitors. As well, PKC θ phosphorylation is dependent on the integrity of the cytoskeleton; PKC θ becomes dephosphorylated in CTL stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 and treated after 15 minutes with Cytochalsin E.

PKC θ is a novel PKC isoform, highly expressed in T cells, that cooperates with calcineurin to induce transcription of IL2 (100). PKC θ is potentially linked to cytoskeletal rearrangement in that it is functionally associated with Vav (95), and it is recruited to the center of the immune synapse in a Vav-dependent and actin polymerization-dependent manner (105). Significantly, PI3K has recently been implicated in the localization of PKC θ to the membrane in Jurkat cells; PI3K activity is required for membrane/cytoskeleton recruitment of PKC θ as recruitment is impaired when PI3K inhibitors are employed (174). PKC θ relocalization and phosphorylation in a PI3K dependent manner may result in a role for PKC θ as a molecular bridge between cytoskeletal rearrangements and downstream signaling events that induce CTL effector function.

5.6.1 Mechanism of Involvement of PI3K in PKC θ Phosphorylation and Localization

PKC θ has been shown to functionally associate and in some systems to physically associate with Vav-1 (95) (175). As well, Villalba and colleagues have shown that costimulation of Jurkat with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 induces translocation of PKC θ from the cytosol to membrane (105). Given that the PH domain of Vav has been implicated in Vav localization and phosphorylation at the membrane (168), it makes sense to suggest that PIP3 interaction with Vav and correspondingly with PKC θ facilitates its localization to the membrane where phosphorylation can take place. In support of this mechanism, PKC θ recruitment to the membrane is impaired in Vav deficient cells (174). Additionally PKC θ has been found to associate with Fyn, which is interesting because Fyn was recently identified as the tyrosine kinase that plays a major role in phosphorylation and activation of Vav under physiological conditions of antigen stimulation (176). Consistent with this finding, Fyn-deficient T cells have decreased responses in terms of Vav and PKC θ activity (177). Given the implication of PIP3 in Vav localization and phosphorylation a Fyn/Vav/PKC θ functional interaction fits nicely into a PI3K dependent model for PKC θ phosphorylation. However, such an interaction remains to be seen; a physical association between Vav-1 and PKC θ in activated mature T cells has yet to be observed, moreover it does not seem to occur in AB.1 CTL clones, stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3. Thus it is unlikely that the dependence of PKC θ on PI3K activity has any direct relation

to Vav-1, unless PKC θ phosphorylation is dependent on Vav-1-dependent cytoskeletal rearrangement. Our results show that the phosphorylation of PKC is dependent on the integrity of the cytoskeleton. Others have shown that PKC localization to the center of the immune synapse is dependent on Vav-dependent actin polymerization (105). Thus the PKC θ /Vav connection may be indirect and PI3K may play a role in bridging Vav-1 and the cytoskeleton, thus enabling the phosphorylation and localization of PKC θ .

There are also potential mechanisms that would implicate PI3K in a more direct role in the phosphorylation and localization of PKC θ . For example, PKC θ has also been shown to physically interact with PDK-1 in fibroblasts (178). This type of interaction could facilitate the localization of PKC θ to the membrane in T cells as well as the phosphorylation of PKC θ at the membrane. In Jurkat, PDK-1 has been shown to indirectly affect the localization of PKC (174) although a direct association in this cell type does not occur. Whether or not a PDK-1/PKC θ interaction occurs in our CTL clones is unknown, thus a PKC/PDK-1 interaction remains a potential mechanism.

Recent studies have also shown that PKC θ and PKB/AKT can functionally and constitutively associate with one another in Jurkat cells, as well as directly bind to each other *in vitro* (179). Thus an AKT/PKC θ interaction could be the mechanism by which PKC θ is localized to the membrane and phosphorylated in a PI3K dependent manner; PI3K-activated AKT could recruit and phosphorylate PKC θ . However, in our AB.1 CTL

clones, we cannot detect a PKC θ /AKT association under immobilized anti-CD3 stimulatory conditions; meanwhile the phosphorylation of PKC θ is still PI3K dependent. Thus an AKT/PKC interaction is not likely to be the mechanism of PKC phosphorylation in our cells.

In contrast to what is seen in Jurkat, PKC θ in our CTL seems to be constitutively at the membrane under both basal and stimulated conditions; it is only the phosphorylation of PKC that increases with stimulation. However, PKC θ , already at the membrane, may be phosphorylated by a kinase whose localization or activation is dependent on PI3K and the generation of PIP3. Again a potential candidate is PDK-1. PDK-1 has been shown to phosphorylate other PKC isoforms (180). PI3K-dependent phosphorylation of PKC θ may result in the relocation of PKC θ to the center of the immune synapse, but this remains to be seen.

Taken together, these results suggest that PI3K plays a role in the phosphorylation of PKC θ and thus, may participate in bridging cytoskeletal rearrangement and the downstream signalling events that facilitate CTL degranulation. The nature of this role may be indirect, through contribution to cytoskeletal rearrangement for which sustained PKC θ phosphorylation is dependent, or direct through the generation of PIP3, which may facilitate the recruitment and activation of kinases that associate with and or phosphorylate PKC θ .

5.6.2 Future Directions

Some important questions that need to be addressed with regard to the role of PI3K in PKC θ phosphorylation include: 1) Do PKC θ and PDK-1 physically associate? 2) Does the phosphorylation of PKC θ imply kinase activity, an alternative activity, localization and/or regulation? 3) What lies directly upstream of PKC θ with regard to the phosphorylation of PKC θ ? 4) If PI3K plays a role in PKC θ localization does it contribute to the localization of PKC to the centre of the immune synapse, or does it direct PKC θ more generally to lipid rafts? And 5) is PKC θ phosphorylated and does it localize to the membrane in PI3K KO T cells.

5.7 Summary and Model for PI3K involvement in CTL effector function

PI3K activity is required for CTL activation and plays a role in the cytoskeletal events that are required for effector function. We suggest a model (outlined in figure 25) whereby PI3K is activated in response to TCR signaling and correspondingly contributes to the sustained signaling of cytoskeletal associated proteins including paxillin, and proteins involved in cell spreading, as well as adhesion. As well PI3K-dependent cytoskeletal rearrangement facilitates the phosphorylation of PKC θ , and may contribute to the localization of PKC θ to lipid rafts, or to the center of the immune synapse. The result of PI3K activity in this sequence of molecular events is contribution to CTL degranulation; the data outlined in this thesis provides

new insight into the critical nature of PI3K and its lipid byproduct PIP3 in CTL signaling and cytoskeletal rearrangement, facilitating CTL degranulation.



Figure 24.



Bibliography

- 1. Atkinson, E. A., and R. C. Bleackley. 1995. Mechanisms of lysis by cytotoxic T cells. *Crit Rev Immunol* 15:359.
- Shresta, S., C. T. Pham, D. A. Thomas, T. A. Graubert, and T. J. Ley.
 1998. How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets? *Curr Opin Immunol* 10:581.
- 3. Kees, U., and R. V. Blanden. 1976. A single genetic element in H-2K affects mouse T-cell antiviral function in poxvirus infection. *J Exp Med 143:450*.
- Yap, K. L., G. L. Ada, and I. F. McKenzie. 1978. Transfer of specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes protects mice inoculated with influenza virus. *Nature* 273:238.
- Coates, A. S., and M. Crawford. 1977. Growth of human melanoma in nude mice: suppression by T-lymphocytes from the tumor donor: brief communication. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 59:1325.
- Kreuwel, H. T., D. J. Morgan, T. Krahl, A. Ko, N. Sarvetnick, and L. A. Sherman. 1999. Comparing the relative role of perforin/granzyme versus Fas/Fas ligand cytotoxic pathways in CD8+ T cell-mediated insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Immunol* 163:4335.
- 7. Kagi, D., B. Odermatt, P. S. Ohashi, R. M. Zinkernagel, and H. Hengartner. 1996. Development of insulitis without diabetes in

transgenic mice lacking perforin-dependent cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med* 183:2143.

- Samelson, L. E., J. J. O'Shea, H. Luong, P. Ross, K. B. Urdahl, R. D. Klausner, and J. Bluestone. 1987. T cell antigen receptor phosphorylation induced by an anti-receptor antibody. *J Immunol* 139:2708.
- Jorgensen, J. L., U. Esser, B. Fazekas de St Groth, P. A. Reay, and M. M. Davis. 1992. Mapping T-cell receptor-peptide contacts by variant peptide immunization of single-chain transgenics. *Nature 355:224*.
- Garcia, K. C., M. Degano, R. L. Stanfield, A. Brunmark, M. R. Jackson, P. A. Peterson, L. Teyton, and I. A. Wilson. 1996. An alphabeta T cell receptor structure at 2.5 A and its orientation in the TCR-MHC complex. *Science* 274:209.
- 11. Qian, D., and A. Weiss. 1997. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 9:205.
- 12. Weiss, A., and D. R. Littman. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263.
- 13. Janeway, C. A., Jr., and K. Bottomly. 1994. Signals and signs for lymphocyte responses. *Cell 76:275*.
- 14. Shaw, A. S., and M. L. Dustin. 1997. Making the T cell receptor go the distance: a topological view of T cell activation. *Immunity* 6:361.
- 15. Miller, S. D., C. L. Vanderlugt, D. J. Lenschow, J. G. Pope, N. J. Karandikar, M. C. Dal Canto, and J. A. Bluestone. 1995. Blockade of

CD28/B7-1 interaction prevents epitope spreading and clinical relapses of murine EAE. *Immunity* 3:739.

- Sayegh, M. H., E. Akalin, W. W. Hancock, M. E. Russell, C. B. Carpenter, P. S. Linsley, and L. A. Turka. 1995. CD28-B7 blockade after alloantigenic challenge in vivo inhibits Th1 cytokines but spares Th2. *J Exp Med 181:1869.*
- Thompson, C. B. 1995. Distinct roles for the costimulatory ligands B7-1 and B7-2 in T helper cell differentiation? *Cell* 81:979.
- Wulfing, C., and M. M. Davis. 1998. A receptor/cytoskeletal movement triggered by costimulation during T cell activation. *Science* 282:2266.
- Viola, A., S. Schroeder, Y. Sakakibara, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1999. T lymphocyte costimulation mediated by reorganization of membrane microdomains. *Science* 283:680.
- Van Seventer, G. A., Y. Shimizu, K. J. Horgan, and S. Shaw. 1990. The LFA-1 ligand ICAM-1 provides an important costimulatory signal for T cell receptor-mediated activation of resting T cells. *J Immunol* 144:4579.
- 21. Kuhlman, P., V. T. Moy, B. A. Lollo, and A. A. Brian. 1991. The accessory function of murine intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in T lymphocyte activation. Contributions of adhesion and co-activation. *J Immunol* 146:1773.
- 22. Springer, T. A. 1990. Adhesion receptors of the immune system. *Nature 346:425.*

- Dougherty, G. J., and N. Hogg. 1987. The role of monocyte lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) in accessory cell function. *Eur J Immunol 17:943*.
- 24. Dougherty, G. J., S. Murdoch, and N. Hogg. 1988. The function of human intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in the generation of an immune response. *Eur J Immunol 18:35*.
- 25. Makgoba, M. W., M. E. Sanders, G. E. Ginther Luce, E. A. Gugel, M. L. Dustin, T. A. Springer, and S. Shaw. 1988. Functional evidence that intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is a ligand for LFA-1-dependent adhesion in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Eur J Immunol* 18:637.
- 26. Hynes, R. O. 1992. Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. *Cell 69:11*.
- 27. Rothlein, R., M. L. Dustin, S. D. Marlin, and T. A. Springer. 1986. A human intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) distinct from LFA-1. *J Immunol* 137:1270.
- Staunton, D. E., M. L. Dustin, and T. A. Springer. 1989. Functional cloning of ICAM-2, a cell adhesion ligand for LFA-1 homologous to ICAM-1. *Nature* 339:61.
- 29. de Fougerolles, A. R., and T. A. Springer. 1992. Intercellular adhesion molecule 3, a third adhesion counter-receptor for lymphocyte function-associated molecule 1 on resting lymphocytes. *J Exp Med 175:185*.

- 30. Lu, C., J. Takagi, and T. A. Springer. 2001. Association of the membrane proximal regions of the alpha and beta subunit cytoplasmic domains constrains an integrin in the inactive state. J Biol Chem 276:14642.
- 31. Diamond, M. S., and T. A. Springer. 1994. The dynamic regulation of integrin adhesiveness. *Curr Biol 4:506*.
- 32. Dustin, M. L., and T. A. Springer. 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature 341:619*.
- 33. van Kooyk, Y., P. van de Wiel-van Kemenade, P. Weder, T. W. Kuijpers, and C. G. Figdor. 1989. Enhancement of LFA-1-mediated cell adhesion by triggering through CD2 or CD3 on T lymphocytes. *Nature 342:811*.
- Zell, T., W. J. Kivens, S. A. Kellermann, and Y. Shimizu. 1999.
 Regulation of integrin function by T cell activation: points of convergence and divergence. *Immunol Res 20:127.*
- Kupfer, A., and S. J. Singer. 1989. Cell biology of cytotoxic and helper T cell functions: immunofluorescence microscopic studies of single cells and cell couples. *Annu Rev Immunol* 7:309.
- Pardi, R., L. Inverardi, C. Rugarli, and J. R. Bender. 1992. Antigenreceptor complex stimulation triggers protein kinase C- dependent CD11a/CD18-cytoskeleton association in T lymphocytes. J Cell Biol 116:1211.

- 37. Pardi, R., G. Bossi, L. Inverardi, E. Rovida, and J. R. Bender. 1995. Conserved regions in the cytoplasmic domains of the leukocyte integrin alpha L beta 2 are involved in endoplasmic reticulum retention, dimerization, and cytoskeletal association. *J Immunol 155:1252*.
- 38. Haughn, L., S. Gratton, L. Caron, R. P. Sekaly, A. Veillette, and M. Julius. 1992. Association of tyrosine kinase p56lck with CD4 inhibits the induction of growth through the alpha beta T-cell receptor. *Nature* 358:328.
- 39. van Oers, N. S., S. J. Teh, A. M. Garvin, K. A. Forbush, R. M. Perlmutter, and H. S. Teh. 1993. CD8 inhibits signal transduction through the T cell receptor in CD4-CD8- thymocytes from T cell receptor transgenic mice reconstituted with a transgenic CD8 alpha molecule. *J Immunol 151:777*.
- 40. Kane, K. P., and M. F. Mescher. 1993. Activation of CD8-dependent cytotoxic T lymphocyte adhesion and degranulation by peptide class I antigen complexes. *J Immunol 150:4788*.
- 41. O'Rourke, A. M., J. Rogers, and M. F. Mescher. 1990. Activated CD8 binding to class I protein mediated by the T-cell receptor results in signalling. *Nature 346:187*.
- Valitutti, S., M. Dessing, K. Aktories, H. Gallati, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1995. Sustained signaling leading to T cell activation results from prolonged T cell receptor occupancy. Role of T cell actin cytoskeleton. *J Exp Med 181:577.*

- 43. Penninger, J. M., and G. R. Crabtree. 1999. The actin cytoskeleton and lymphocyte activation. *Cell* 96:9.
- Kucik, D. F., M. L. Dustin, J. M. Miller, and E. J. Brown. 1996.
 Adhesion-activating phorbol ester increases the mobility of leukocyte integrin LFA-1 in cultured lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest* 97:2139.
- 45. Lub, M., Y. van Kooyk, S. J. van Vliet, and C. G. Figdor. 1997. Dual role of the actin cytoskeleton in regulating cell adhesion mediated by the integrin lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1. *Mol Biol Cell* 8:341.
- 46. Fischer, K. D., K. Tedford, and J. M. Penninger. 1998. Vav links antigen-receptor signaling to the actin cytoskeleton. *Semin Immunol 10:317*.
- 47. Holsinger, L. J., I. A. Graef, W. Swat, T. Chi, D. M. Bautista, L. Davidson, R. S. Lewis, F. W. Alt, and G. R. Crabtree. 1998. Defects in actin-cap formation in Vav-deficient mice implicate an actin requirement for lymphocyte signal transduction. *Curr Biol 8:563*.
- 48. Dustin, M. L., and A. C. Chan. 2000. Signaling takes shape in the immune system. *Cell* 103:283.
- Yannelli, J. R., J. A. Sullivan, G. L. Mandell, and V. H. Engelhard.
 1986. Reorientation and fusion of cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules after interaction with target cells as determined by high resolution cinemicrography. *J Immunol* 136:377.

- 50. Kupfer, A., G. Dennert, and S. J. Singer. 1985. The reorientation of the Golgi apparatus and the microtubule-organizing center in the cytotoxic effector cell is a prerequisite in the lysis of bound target cells. *J Mol Cell Immunol 2:37*.
- 51. Podack, E. R., and A. Kupfer. 1991. T-cell effector functions: mechanisms for delivery of cytotoxicity and help. *Annu Rev Cell Biol 7:479*.
- 52. Stewart, M. P., A. McDowall, and N. Hogg. 1998. LFA-1-mediated adhesion is regulated by cytoskeletal restraint and by a Ca2+- dependent protease, calpain. *J Cell Biol 140:699*.
- Kucik, D. F., S. C. Kuo, E. L. Elson, and M. P. Sheetz. 1991.
 Preferential attachment of membrane glycoproteins to the cytoskeleton at the leading edge of lamella. *J Cell Biol 114:1029*.
- 54. Felsenfeld, D. P., D. Choquet, and M. P. Sheetz. 1996. Ligand binding regulates the directed movement of beta1 integrins on fibroblasts. *Nature* 383:438.
- 55. Sampath, R., P. J. Gallagher, and F. M. Pavalko. 1998. Cytoskeletal interactions with the leukocyte integrin beta2 cytoplasmic tail. Activation-dependent regulation of associations with talin and alphaactinin. J Biol Chem 273:33588.
- Sedwick, C. E., M. M. Morgan, L. Jusino, J. L. Cannon, J. Miller, and J.
 K. Burkhardt. 1999. TCR, LFA-1, and CD28 play unique and

complementary roles in signaling T cell cytoskeletal reorganization. *J Immunol* 162:1367.

- 57. Calderwood, D. A., R. Zent, R. Grant, D. J. Rees, R. O. Hynes, and M.
 H. Ginsberg. 1999. The Talin head domain binds to integrin beta subunit cytoplasmic tails and regulates integrin activation. *J Biol Chem* 274:28071.
- Monks, C. R., B. A. Freiberg, H. Kupfer, N. Sciaky, and A. Kupfer.
 1998. Three-dimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature* 395:82.
- 59. Cyster, J. G., D. M. Shotton, and A. F. Williams. 1991. The dimensions of the T lymphocyte glycoprotein leukosialin and identification of linear protein epitopes that can be modified by glycosylation. *Embo J 10:893*.
- Garboczi, D. N., P. Ghosh, U. Utz, Q. R. Fan, W. E. Biddison, and D.
 C. Wiley. 1996. Structure of the complex between human T-cell receptor, viral peptide and HLA-A2. *Nature* 384:134.
- Berg, N. N., L. G. Puente, W. Dawicki, and H. L. Ostergaard. 1998.
 Sustained TCR signaling is required for mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and degranulation by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Immunol 161:2919.
- Brown, D. A., and J. K. Rose. 1992. Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. *Cell* 68:533.

- 63. Schroeder, R., E. London, and D. Brown. 1994. Interactions between saturated acyl chains confer detergent resistance on lipids and glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins: GPI- anchored proteins in liposomes and cells show similar behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:12130*.
- 64. Brown, D. A., and E. London. 1997. Structure of detergent-resistant membrane domains: does phase separation occur in biological membranes? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 240:1*.
- 65. Resh, M. D. 1999. Fatty acylation of proteins: new insights into membrane targeting of myristoylated and palmitoylated proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta 1451:1*.
- 66. Kane, L. P., J. Lin, and A. Weiss. 2000. Signal transduction by the TCR for antigen. *Curr Opin Immunol* 12:242.
- 67. Langlet, C., A. M. Bernard, P. Drevot, and H. T. He. 2000. Membrane rafts and signaling by the multichain immune recognition receptors. *Curr Opin Immunol 12:250*.
- 68. Leo, A., and B. Schraven. 2001. Adapters in lymphocyte signalling. *Curr Opin Immunol 13:307.*
- Montixi, C., C. Langlet, A. M. Bernard, J. Thimonier, C. Dubois, M. A. Wurbel, J. P. Chauvin, M. Pierres, and H. T. He. 1998. Engagement of T cell receptor triggers its recruitment to low-density detergent-insoluble membrane domains. *Embo J* 17:5334.

- Xavier, R., T. Brennan, Q. Li, C. McCormack, and B. Seed. 1998.
 Membrane compartmentation is required for efficient T cell activation.
 Immunity 8:723.
- 71. Kosugi, A., S. Saitoh, S. Noda, K. Yasuda, F. Hayashi, M. Ogata, and T. Hamaoka. 1999. Translocation of tyrosine-phosphorylated TCRzeta chain to glycolipid- enriched membrane domains upon T cell activation. *Int Immunol 11:1395.*
- 72. Brdicka, T., J. Cerny, and V. Horejsi. 1998. T cell receptor signalling results in rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of the linker protein LAT present in detergent-resistant membrane microdomains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 248:356*.
- Zhang, W., R. P. Trible, and L. E. Samelson. 1998. LAT palmitoylation: its essential role in membrane microdomain targeting and tyrosine phosphorylation during T cell activation. *Immunity* 9:239.
- Horejsi, V., K. Drbal, M. Cebecauer, J. Cerny, T. Brdicka, P. Angelisova, and H. Stockinger. 1999. GPI-microdomains: a role in signalling via immunoreceptors. *Immunol Today 20:356.*
- 75. Xavier, R., and B. Seed. 1999. Membrane compartmentation and the response to antigen. *Curr Opin Immunol 11:265*.
- Simons, K., and D. Toomre. 2000. Lipid rafts and signal transduction.
 Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1:31.
- 77. Bi, K., and A. Altman. 2001. Membrane lipid microdomains and the role of PKCtheta in T cell activation. *Semin Immunol 13:139*.

- 78. Harder, T., and K. Simons. 1999. Clusters of glycolipid and glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins in lymphoid cells: accumulation of actin regulated by local tyrosine phosphorylation. *Eur J Immunol* 29:556.
- Grakoui, A., S. K. Bromley, C. Sumen, M. M. Davis, A. S. Shaw, P. M.
 Allen, and M. L. Dustin. 1999. The immunological synapse: a molecular machine controlling T cell activation. *Science* 285:221.
- 80. Stinchcombe, J. C., G. Bossi, S. Booth, and G. M. Griffiths. 2001. The immunological synapse of CTL contains a secretory domain and membrane bridges. *Immunity* 15:751.
- Kagi, D., F. Vignaux, B. Ledermann, K. Burki, V. Depraetere, S. Nagata, H. Hengartner, and P. Golstein. 1994. Fas and perforin pathways as major mechanisms of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Science* 265:528.
- Geiger, B., D. Rosen, and G. Berke. 1982. Spatial relationships of microtubule-organizing centers and the contact area of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and target cells. *J Cell Biol* 95:137.
- 83. Rubbi, C. P., and D. Rickwood. 1996. A simple immunomagnetic beadbased technique for the detection of surface molecules capable of inducing T cell functional polarisation. *J Immunol Methods* 192:157.
- 84. Lowin-Kropf, B., V. S. Shapiro, and A. Weiss. 1998. Cytoskeletal polarization of T cells is regulated by an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif-dependent mechanism. *J Cell Biol 140:861*.

- 85. Chan, A. C., M. Iwashima, C. W. Turck, and A. Weiss. 1992. ZAP-70: a
 70 kd protein-tyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta chain. *Cell 71:649*.
- Iwashima, M., B. A. Irving, N. S. van Oers, A. C. Chan, and A. Weiss.
 1994. Sequential interactions of the TCR with two distinct cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases. *Science* 263:1136.
- 87. Chan, A. C., M. Dalton, R. Johnson, G. H. Kong, T. Wang, R. Thoma, and T. Kurosaki. 1995. Activation of ZAP-70 kinase activity by phosphorylation of tyrosine 493 is required for lymphocyte antigen receptor function. *Embo J 14:2499.*
- Qian, D., M. N. Mollenauer, and A. Weiss. 1996. Dominant-negative zeta-associated protein 70 inhibits T cell antigen receptor signaling. J *Exp Med* 183:611.
- 89. Wardenburg, J. B., C. Fu, J. K. Jackman, H. Flotow, S. E. Wilkinson,
 D. H. Williams, R. Johnson, G. Kong, A. C. Chan, and P. R. Findell.
 1996. Phosphorylation of SLP-76 by the ZAP-70 protein-tyrosine kinase is required for T-cell receptor function. *J Biol Chem* 271:19641.
- Crespo, P., K. E. Schuebel, A. A. Ostrom, J. S. Gutkind, and X. R. Bustelo. 1997. Phosphotyrosine-dependent activation of Rac-1 GDP/GTP exchange by the vav proto-oncogene product. *Nature* 385:169.

- Raab, M., A. J. da Silva, P. R. Findell, and C. E. Rudd. 1997.
 Regulation of Vav-SLP-76 binding by ZAP-70 and its relevance to TCR zeta/CD3 induction of interleukin-2. *Immunity 6:155*.
- Zhang, W., J. Sloan-Lancaster, J. Kitchen, R. P. Trible, and L. E. Samelson. 1998. LAT: the ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. *Cell* 92:83.
- Bubeck Wardenburg, J., R. Pappu, J. Y. Bu, B. Mayer, J. Chernoff, D. Straus, and A. C. Chan. 1998. Regulation of PAK activation and the T cell cytoskeleton by the linker protein SLP-76. *Immunity* 9:607.
- 94. Fischer, K. D., Y. Y. Kong, H. Nishina, K. Tedford, L. E. Marengere, I. Kozieradzki, T. Sasaki, M. Starr, G. Chan, S. Gardener, M. P. Nghiem, D. Bouchard, M. Barbacid, A. Bernstein, and J. M. Penninger. 1998. Vav is a regulator of cytoskeletal reorganization mediated by the T- cell receptor. *Curr Biol 8:554*.
- 95. Kong, Y. Y., K. D. Fischer, M. F. Bachmann, S. Mariathasan, I. Kozieradzki, M. P. Nghiem, D. Bouchard, A. Bernstein, P. S. Ohashi, and J. M. Penninger. 1998. Vav regulates peptide-specific apoptosis in thymocytes. *J Exp Med* 188:2099.
- 96. Snapper, S. B., F. S. Rosen, E. Mizoguchi, P. Cohen, W. Khan, C. H. Liu, T. L. Hagemann, S. P. Kwan, R. Ferrini, L. Davidson, A. K. Bhan, and F. W. Alt. 1998. Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein-deficient mice reveal a role for WASP in T but not B cell activation. *Immunity 9:81*.

- Clark, E. A., W. G. King, J. S. Brugge, M. Symons, and R. O. Hynes.
 1998. Integrin-mediated signals regulated by members of the rho family of GTPases. *J Cell Biol* 142:573.
- Kim, A. S., L. T. Kakalis, N. Abdul-Manan, G. A. Liu, and M. K. Rosen.
 2000. Autoinhibition and activation mechanisms of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein. *Nature* 404:151.
- 99. Cooper, J. A., and D. A. Schafer. 2000. Control of actin assembly and disassembly at filament ends. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 12:97.
- 100. Werlen, G., E. Jacinto, Y. Xia, and M. Karin. 1998. Calcineurin preferentially synergizes with PKC-theta to activate JNK and IL-2 promoter in T lymphocytes. *Embo J 17:3101*.
- Sun, Z., C. W. Arendt, W. Ellmeier, E. M. Schaeffer, M. J. Sunshine, L. Gandhi, J. Annes, D. Petrzilka, A. Kupfer, P. L. Schwartzberg, and D. R. Littman. 2000. PKC-theta is required for TCR-induced NF-kappaB activation in mature but not immature T lymphocytes. *Nature* 404:402.
- 102. Klauck, T. M., and J. D. Scott. 1995. The postsynaptic density: a subcellular anchor for signal transduction enzymes. *Cell Signal 7:747*.
- 103. Nauert, J. B., T. M. Klauck, L. K. Langeberg, and J. D. Scott. 1997. Gravin, an autoantigen recognized by serum from myasthenia gravis patients, is a kinase scaffold protein. *Curr Biol 7:52*.
- 104. Monks, C. R., H. Kupfer, I. Tamir, A. Barlow, and A. Kupfer. 1997. Selective modulation of protein kinase C-theta during T-cell activation. *Nature* 385:83.

- 105. Villalba, M., N. Coudronniere, M. Deckert, E. Teixeiro, P. Mas, and A. Altman. 2000. A novel functional interaction between Vav and PKCtheta is required for TCR-induced T cell activation. *Immunity 12:151*.
- 106. Herreros, L., J. L. Rodriguez-Fernandez, M. C. Brown, J. L. Alonso-Lebrero, C. Cabanas, F. Sanchez-Madrid, N. Longo, C. E. Turner, and P. Sanchez-Mateos. 2000. Paxillin localizes to the lymphocyte microtubule organizing center and associates with the microtubule cytoskeleton. J Biol Chem 275:26436.
- 107. Ostergaard, H. L., O. Lou, C. W. Arendt, and N. N. Berg. 1998. Paxillin phosphorylation and association with Lck and Pyk2 in anti-CD3- or anti-CD45-stimulated T cells. *J Biol Chem* 273:5692.
- 108. Burridge, K., C. E. Turner, and L. H. Romer. 1992. Tyrosine phosphorylation of paxillin and pp125FAK accompanies cell adhesion to extracellular matrix: a role in cytoskeletal assembly. *J Cell Biol* 119:893.
- 109. Richardson, A., R. K. Malik, J. D. Hildebrand, and J. T. Parsons. 1997. Inhibition of cell spreading by expression of the C-terminal domain of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is rescued by coexpression of Src or catalytically inactive FAK: a role for paxillin tyrosine phosphorylation. *Mol Cell Biol 17:6906*.
- 110. Graham, I. L., D. C. Anderson, V. M. Holers, and E. J. Brown. 1994. Complement receptor 3 (CR3, Mac-1, integrin alpha M beta 2,

CD11b/CD18) is required for tyrosine phosphorylation of paxillin in adherent and nonadherent neutrophils. *J Cell Biol* 127:1139.

- 111. Hashimoto, S., A. Tsubouchi, Y. Mazaki, and H. Sabe. 2001. Interaction of paxillin with p21-activated Kinase (PAK). Association of paxillin alpha with the kinase-inactive and the Cdc42-activated forms of PAK3. *J Biol Chem* 276:6037.
- 112. Ku, G. M., D. Yablonski, E. Manser, L. Lim, and A. Weiss. 2001. A PAK1-PIX-PKL complex is activated by the T-cell receptor independent of Nck, Slp-76 and LAT. *Embo J* 20:457.
- 113. Vanhaesebroeck, B., and M. D. Waterfield. 1999. Signaling by distinct classes of phosphoinositide 3-kinases. *Exp Cell Res* 253:239.
- 114. Hawkins, P. T., T. R. Jackson, and L. R. Stephens. 1992. Plateletderived growth factor stimulates synthesis of PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 by activating a PtdIns(4,5)P2 3-OH kinase. *Nature* 358:157.
- 115. Martin, T. F. 1998. Phosphoinositide lipids as signaling molecules: common themes for signal transduction, cytoskeletal regulation, and membrane trafficking. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 14*:231.
- 116. Ward, S. G., S. C. Ley, C. MacPhee, and D. A. Cantrell. 1992. Regulation of D-3 phosphoinositides during T cell activation via the T cell antigen receptor/CD3 complex and CD2 antigens. *Eur J Immunol* 22:45.
- 117. Ward, S. G., C. H. June, and D. Olive. 1996. PI 3-kinase: a pivotal pathway in T-cell activation? *Immunol Today 17:187*.

- Reif, K., B. M. Burgering, and D. A. Cantrell. 1997. Phosphatidylinositol
 3-kinase links the interleukin-2 receptor to protein kinase B and p70 S6
 kinase. J Biol Chem 272:14426.
- Brennan, P., J. W. Babbage, B. M. Burgering, B. Groner, K. Reif, and
 D. A. Cantrell. 1997. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase couples the interleukin-2 receptor to the cell cycle regulator E2F. *Immunity* 7:679.
- 120. Vanhaesebroeck, B., S. J. Leevers, G. Panayotou, and M. D. Waterfield. 1997. Phosphoinositide 3-kinases: a conserved family of signal transducers. *Trends Biochem Sci* 22:267.
- 121. Ward, S. G., and D. A. Cantrell. 2001. Phosphoinositide 3-kinases in T lymphocyte activation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 13:332.
- 122. Zheng, Y., S. Bagrodia, and R. A. Cerione. 1994. Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity by Cdc42Hs binding to p85. *J Biol Chem* 269:18727.
- 123. Tolias, K. F., L. C. Cantley, and C. L. Carpenter. 1995. Rho family GTPases bind to phosphoinositide kinases. *J Biol Chem* 270:17656.
- 124. Prasad, K. V., R. Kapeller, O. Janssen, H. Repke, J. S. Duke-Cohan, L. C. Cantley, and C. E. Rudd. 1993. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) 3-kinase and PI 4-kinase binding to the CD4- p56lck complex: the p56lck SH3 domain binds to PI 3-kinase but not PI 4- kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 13:7708.

- 125. Pleiman, C. M., W. M. Hertz, and J. C. Cambier. 1994. Activation of phosphatidylinositol-3' kinase by Src-family kinase SH3 binding to the p85 subunit. *Science* 263:1609.
- 126. Hu, P., and J. Schlessinger. 1994. Direct association of p110 beta phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase with p85 is mediated by an N-terminal fragment of p110 beta. *Mol Cell Biol 14:2577*.
- 127. Reif, K., C. D. Nobes, G. Thomas, A. Hall, and D. A. Cantrell. 1996.
 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signals activate a selective subset of Rac/Rho-dependent effector pathways. *Curr Biol 6:1445*.
- 128. Fruman, D. A., S. B. Snapper, C. M. Yballe, L. Davidson, J. Y. Yu, F. W. Alt, and L. C. Cantley. 1999. Impaired B cell development and proliferation in absence of phosphoinositide 3-kinase p85alpha. *Science* 283:393.
- 129. Suzuki, H., Y. Terauchi, M. Fujiwara, S. Aizawa, Y. Yazaki, T. Kadowaki, and S. Koyasu. 1999. Xid-like immunodeficiency in mice with disruption of the p85alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Science* 283:390.
- 130. Bi, L., I. Okabe, D. J. Bernard, A. Wynshaw-Boris, and R. L. Nussbaum. 1999. Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem* 274:10963.
- Sasaki, T., J. Irie-Sasaki, R. G. Jones, A. J. Oliveira-dos-Santos, W. L.
 Stanford, B. Bolon, A. Wakeham, A. Itie, D. Bouchard, I. Kozieradzki,

N. Joza, T. W. Mak, P. S. Ohashi, A. Suzuki, and J. M. Penninger. 2000. Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. *Science* 287:1040.

- 132. Okkenhaug, K., A. Bilancio, G. Farjot, H. Priddle, S. Sancho, E. Peskett, W. Pearce, S. E. Meek, A. Salpekar, M. D. Waterfield, A. J. Smith, and B. Vanhaesebroeck. 2002. Impaired B and T cell antigen receptor signaling in p110delta PI 3- kinase mutant mice. *Science 297:1031*.
- 133. Osman, N., H. Turner, S. Lucas, K. Reif, and D. A. Cantrell. 1996. The protein interactions of the immunoglobulin receptor family tyrosinebased activation motifs present in the T cell receptor zeta subunits and the CD3 gamma, delta and epsilon chains. *Eur J Immunol* 26:1063.
- 134. Bruyns, E., A. Marie-Cardine, H. Kirchgessner, K. Sagolla, A. Shevchenko, M. Mann, F. Autschbach, A. Bensussan, S. Meuer, and B. Schraven. 1998. T cell receptor (TCR) interacting molecule (TRIM), a novel disulfide- linked dimer associated with the TCR-CD3-zeta complex, recruits intracellular signaling proteins to the plasma membrane. *J Exp Med 188:561*.
- Bunnell, S. C., M. Diehn, M. B. Yaffe, P. R. Findell, L. C. Cantley, and
 L. J. Berg. 2000. Biochemical interactions integrating Itk with the T cell receptor- initiated signaling cascade. *J Biol Chem* 275:2219.
- 136. Rameh, L. E., and L. C. Cantley. 1999. The role of phosphoinositide 3kinase lipid products in cell function. *J Biol Chem* 274:8347.

- 137. Schaeffer, E. M., and P. L. Schwartzberg. 2000. Tec family kinases in lymphocyte signaling and function. *Curr Opin Immunol* 12:282.
- 138. Reif, K., and D. A. Cantrell. 1998. Networking Rho family GTPases in lymphocytes. *Immunity* 8:395.
- 139. Arrieumerlou, C., E. Donnadieu, P. Brennan, G. Keryer, G. Bismuth, D. Cantrell, and A. Trautmann. 1998. Involvement of phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Rac in membrane ruffling induced by IL-2 in T cells. *Eur J Immunol 28:1877*.
- 140. Han, J., K. Luby-Phelps, B. Das, X. Shu, Y. Xia, R. D. Mosteller, U. M. Krishna, J. R. Falck, M. A. White, and D. Broek. 1998. Role of substrates and products of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Rac-related guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science* 279:558.
- 141. Blanchoin, L., K. J. Amann, H. N. Higgs, J. B. Marchand, D. A. Kaiser, and T. D. Pollard. 2000. Direct observation of dendritic actin filament networks nucleated by Arp2/3 complex and WASP/Scar proteins. *Nature 404:1007.*
- 142. Manser, E., T. H. Loo, C. G. Koh, Z. S. Zhao, X. Q. Chen, L. Tan, I. Tan, T. Leung, and L. Lim. 1998. PAK kinases are directly coupled to the PIX family of nucleotide exchange factors. *Mol Cell 1:183*.
- Bagrodia, S., S. J. Taylor, K. A. Jordon, L. Van Aelst, and R. A. Cerione. 1998. A novel regulator of p21-activated kinases. *J Biol Chem* 273:23633.

- 144. Yoshii, S., M. Tanaka, Y. Otsuki, D. Y. Wang, R. J. Guo, Y. Zhu, R. Takeda, H. Hanai, E. Kaneko, and H. Sugimura. 1999. alphaPIX nucleotide exchange factor is activated by interaction with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Oncogene 18:5680*.
- 145. Meng, F., and C. A. Lowell. 1998. A beta 1 integrin signaling pathway involving Src-family kinases, Cbl and PI-3 kinase is required for macrophage spreading and migration. *Embo J* 17:4391.
- 146. Hartwig, J. H., S. Kung, T. Kovacsovics, P. A. Janmey, L. C. Cantley, T. P. Stossel, and A. Toker. 1996. D3 phosphoinositides and outside-in integrin signaling by glycoprotein IIb-IIIa mediate platelet actin assembly and filopodial extension induced by phorbol 12-myristate 13acetate. J Biol Chem 271:32986.
- 147. Calderwood, D. A., S. J. Shattil, and M. H. Ginsberg. 2000. Integrins and actin filaments: reciprocal regulation of cell adhesion and signaling. *J Biol Chem* 275:22607.
- 148. Coppolino, M. G., and S. Dedhar. 2000. Bi-directional signal transduction by integrin receptors. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 32:171.
- 149. Stewart, M. P., C. Cabanas, and N. Hogg. 1996. T cell adhesion to intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is controlled by cell spreading and the activation of integrin LFA-1. *J Immunol 156:1810*.
- 150. Kolanus, W., and B. Seed. 1997. Integrins and inside-out signal transduction: converging signals from PKC and PIP3. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 9:725.

- 151. Nagel, W., L. Zeitlmann, P. Schilcher, C. Geiger, J. Kolanus, and W. Kolanus. 1998. Phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase activates the beta2 integrin adhesion pathway and induces membrane recruitment of cytohesin-1. *J Biol Chem* 273:14853.
- 152. King, W. G., M. D. Mattaliano, T. O. Chan, P. N. Tsichlis, and J. S. Brugge. 1997. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is required for integrin-stimulated AKT and Raf-1/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 17:4406.
- 153. Nagel, W., P. Schilcher, L. Zeitlmann, and W. Kolanus. 1998. The PH domain and the polybasic c domain of cytohesin-1 cooperate specifically in plasma membrane association and cellular function. *Mol Biol Cell* 9:1981.
- 154. Knorr, T., W. Nagel, and W. Kolanus. 2000. Phosphoinositides determine specificity of the guanine-nucleotide exchange activity of cytohesin-1 for ADP-ribosylation factors derived from a mammalian expression system. *Eur J Biochem* 267:3784.
- 155. Hyduk, S. J., and M. I. Cybulsky. 2002. Alpha 4 integrin signaling activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and stimulates T cell adhesion to intercellular adhesion molecule-1 to a similar extent as CD3, but induces a distinct rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton. *J Immunol 168:696*.

- 156. Jensen, P. L., and M. F. Mescher. 2001. Role of phosphoinositide 3kinase in TCR-signaled regulation of CD8-mediated adhesion to class I MHC protein. *Eur J Immunol* 31:3612.
- 157. Woods, M. L., W. J. Kivens, M. A. Adelsman, Y. Qiu, A. August, and Y. Shimizu. 2001. A novel function for the Tec family tyrosine kinase Itk in activation of beta 1 integrins by the T-cell receptor. *Embo J 20:1232*.
- Blakely, A., K. Gorman, H. Ostergaard, K. Svoboda, C. C. Liu, J. D. Young, and W. R. Clark. 1987. Resistance of cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes to cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med 166:1070*.
- 159. Kane, K. P., A. Vitiello, L. A. Sherman, and M. F. Mescher. 1989. Cytolytic T-lymphocyte response to isolated class I H-2 proteins and influenza peptides. *Nature 340:157.*
- Reiske, H. R., S. C. Kao, L. A. Cary, J. L. Guan, J. F. Lai, and H. C. Chen. 1999. Requirement of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in focal adhesion kinase-promoted cell migration. *J Biol Chem* 274:12361.
- Fuller, C. L., K. S. Ravichandran, and V. L. Braciale. 1999. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent and -independent cytolytic effector functions. *J Immunol 162:6337*.
- 162. Yatomi, Y., O. Hazeki, S. Kume, and M. Ui. 1992. Suppression by wortmannin of platelet responses to stimuli due to inhibition of pleckstrin phosphorylation. *Biochem J* 285:745.

- Jiang, K., B. Zhong, D. L. Gilvary, B. C. Corliss, E. Hong-Geller, S. Wei, and J. Y. Djeu. 2000. Pivotal role of phosphoinositide-3 kinase in regulation of cytotoxicity in natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol 1:419*.
- 164. Dustin, M. L., and J. A. Cooper. 2000. The immunological synapse and the actin cytoskeleton: molecular hardware for T cell signaling. *Nat Immunol 1:23.*
- Cerione, R. A., and Y. Zheng. 1996. The Dbl family of oncogenes. *Curr* Opin Cell Biol 8:216.
- 166. Costello, P. S., A. E. Walters, P. J. Mee, M. Turner, L. F. Reynolds, A. Prisco, N. Sarner, R. Zamoyska, and V. L. Tybulewicz. 1999. The Rho-family GTP exchange factor Vav is a critical transducer of T cell receptor signals to the calcium, ERK, and NF-kappaB pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:3035.
- 167. Villalba, M., K. Bi, F. Rodriguez, Y. Tanaka, S. Schoenberger, and A. Altman. 2001. Vav1/Rac-dependent actin cytoskeleton reorganization is required for lipid raft clustering in T cells. *J Cell Biol 155:331*.
- 168. Aghazadeh, B., W. E. Lowry, X. Y. Huang, and M. K. Rosen. 2000. Structural basis for relief of autoinhibition of the Dbl homology domain of proto-oncogene Vav by tyrosine phosphorylation. *Cell* 102:625.
- D'Souza-Schorey, C., B. Boettner, and L. Van Aelst. 1998. Rac regulates integrin-mediated spreading and increased adhesion of T lymphocytes. *Mol Cell Biol* 18:3936.

- 170. Gillham, H., M. C. Golding, R. Pepperkok, and W. J. Gullick. 1999. Intracellular movement of green fluorescent protein-tagged phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in response to growth factor receptor signaling. J Cell Biol 146:869.
- 171. Haugh, J. M., F. Codazzi, M. Teruel, and T. Meyer. 2000. Spatial sensing in fibroblasts mediated by 3' phosphoinositides. *J Cell Biol 151:1269*.
- 172. Astoul, E., C. Edmunds, D. A. Cantrell, and S. G. Ward. 2001. PI 3-K and T-cell activation: limitations of T-leukemic cell lines as signaling models. *Trends Immunol* 22:490.
- 173. Krawczyk, C., A. Oliveira-dos-Santos, T. Sasaki, E. Griffiths, P. S. Ohashi, S. Snapper, F. Alt, and J. M. Penninger. 2002. Vav1 controls integrin clustering and MHC/peptide-specific cell adhesion to antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* 16:331.
- 174. Villalba, M., K. Bi, J. Hu, Y. Altman, P. Bushway, E. Reits, J. Neefjes,
 G. Baier, R. T. Abraham, and A. Altman. 2002. Translocation of PKC[theta] in T cells is mediated by a nonconventional, PI3-K- and Vav-dependent pathway, but does not absolutely require phospholipase C. *J Cell Biol 157:253*.
- 175. Dienz, O., S. P. Hehner, W. Droge, and M. L. Schmitz. 2000. Synergistic activation of NF-kappa B by functional cooperation between vav and PKCtheta in T lymphocytes. *J Biol Chem* 275:24547.

- 176. Huang, J., D. Tilly, A. Altman, K. Sugie, and H. M. Grey. 2000. T-cell receptor antagonists induce Vav phosphorylation by selective activation of Fyn kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:10923.
- 177. Fukai, I., R. E. Hussey, R. Sunder-Plassmann, and E. L. Reinherz.
 2000. A critical role for p59(fyn) in CD2-based signal transduction. *Eur J Immunol* 30:3507.
- 178. Liu, Y., C. Graham, A. Li, R. J. Fisher, and S. Shaw. 2002. Phosphorylation of the protein kinase C-theta activation loop and hydrophobic motif regulates its kinase activity, but only activation loop phosphorylation is critical to in vivo nuclear-factor-kappaB induction. *Biochem J* 361:255.
- 179. Bauer, B., N. Krumbock, F. Fresser, F. Hochholdinger, M. Spitaler, A. Simm, F. Uberall, B. Schraven, and G. Baier. 2001. Complex formation and cooperation of protein kinase C theta and Akt1/protein kinase B alpha in the NF-kappa B transactivation cascade in Jurkat T cells. *J Biol Chem* 276:31627.
- 180. Parekh, D. B., W. Ziegler, and P. J. Parker. 2000. Multiple pathways control protein kinase C phosphorylation. *Embo J* 19:496.

Appendix

A.1 Wortmannin has no adverse effect on the viability of CTL

Another critical control with regard to using drug inhibitors to inhibit PI3K was to consider the effect of these drugs on cell viability. Potent effects on cell survival would outweigh any other observations that would result from drug treatment such as cytoskeletal rearrangements or the lack there of, of alterations in signaling events etc. Thus we performed an experiment to determine the effect of drug treatment at various concentrations on cell viability. CTL were treated for 30 minutes, or not, and then stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 antibodies, of left unstimulated. The results in Appendix figure 1 suggest that wortmannin has no effect on cell viability over a period of the two days (24 hours).

A.2 LY 294002 inhibits degranulation of CTL as stimulated by target cells

CTL, stimulated with antigen bearing target cells (L1210 ^{Kb/Dd}), were also inhibited with Ly 294002. As in the case of wortmannin inhibition of PI3K, CTL degranulation was inhibited to the same extent as when CTL were stimulated with anti-CD3 (Appendix figure 2). The data in figure 2 represent one of three identical experiments where AB.1 were stimulated with allo targets and Ly 294002 was used to inhibit PI3K activity. These results suggest that PI3K is a critical player in the intracellular events that lead to CTL effector function.

A.3 PKC θ is constitutively at the membrane in unstimulated AB.1 CTL clones

CTL were stimulated by coculture with target cells for 5 minutes. Cell lysates were fractioned into crude, soluble, membrane and cytoskeletal components via ultra-centrifugation methods and Triton X 100 solublization. These fractions were then analyzed through western blotting to assess the localization of PKC θ . Appendix figure 3 shows the localization of PKC θ in the membrane fraction.



Appendix Figure 1. Wortmannin treatment has no effect on AB.1 viability under basal conditions or upon stimulation. AB.1 CTL clones were treated with indicated concentrations of wortmannin for 30 minutes at 37 °C and stimulated with immobilized 145-2C11 antibodies (figure B) or left unstimulated (Figure A). Live cells were counted after 4 hours (time 1) and 24 hours (time 2).



Appendix Figure 2. Ly 294002 Treatment inhibits Degranulation regardless of Stimulation through CD3 or with Target cells. AB.1 CTL clones were pretreated with Ly 294002 for 30 minutes at 37°C at the indicated concentrations and stimulated with either 145-2C11 (anti-CD3) or with target cells bearing the relevant MHC (L1210 K^b/D^d). Stimulation lasted 4.5 hours, after which the supernatants were collected and assayed for serine esterase as an indicator of degranulation. ((-□-) AB.1, pretreated with LY294002 and stimulated with 145-2C1, (-●-) AB.1 pretreated with LY294002 and stimulated with targets, (--) AB.1 left unstimulated, (-O-) target cells alone.)



Appendix Figure 3. **PKC** θ is present in the membrane in unstimulated AB.1. AB.1 CTL clones were stimulated by coculture with target cells for the indicated time period. Cells were lysed and post nuclear cell lysates, separated into fractions. Reduced proteins in each fraction were blotted with antibody for PKC θ . ((AB.1) AB.1 alone without stimulation, (+) AB.1 + L1210 kb/Dd, (-) AB.1 + L1210, (W) AB.1 + L1210 kb/Dd + 50 nM wortmannin.)